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Welcome from the chair and chief executive 
 
2019/20 has been a year like no other for our colleagues and patients at Moorfields. Our work in the early 
part of the year saw us treating more patients than ever before, developing innovative, new sight-saving 
treatments and taking an all-important step towards building Oriel, a world-leading eye facility.  
 
Despite these important achievements, what is likely to remain at the forefront of many people’s minds as 
they reflect over the past year is the coronavirus pandemic. Whilst the outstanding dedication and 
commitment of our colleagues in response to the pandemic cannot be overstated, we would also like to pay 
tribute to their achievements throughout the year.  
  
Prior to the pandemic, our teams delivered over 750,000 patient appointments, met all national targets and 
had all our services rated as either good or outstanding by the Care Quality Commission (CQC). We have 
maintained a strong financial position throughout the year, despite cost pressures and our planned 
investment in services and Oriel. 
 
Oriel, our project to build a new world class facility in partnership with UCL Institute of Ophthalmology and 
Moorfields Eye Charity, moved ahead at pace during the year. It will design, build and operate a new, 
purpose-built centre of excellence for eye care, research and education. Following an extensive full public 
consultation, our proposal is now approved allowing us to submit a formal planning application and full 
business case for this world-class facility at the heart of our strategy. 
 
We continue to lead in Artificial Intelligence (AI), extending the DeepMind partnership to explore earlier 
detection and treatment of eye diseases and being awarded a grant to assess AI cataract surgery technology. 
The new eye health data research hub will use advanced analytics including AI to give patients across the UK 
faster access to pioneering new treatments and to develop insights into eye disease and how these relate to 
wider health such as dementia and diabetes. 
 
Our surgeons were the first to deliver a pioneering NHS-funded gene therapy treatment to halt sight loss for 
a rare eye condition. Other breakthroughs during the year include the UK’s first large-scale glaucoma biobank 
and a new injection to improve vision for people with wet AMD. 
 
We also continue to demonstrate leadership across the wider NHS system, working with NHS England and 
Improvement on new national clinical pathways for eye care and on initiatives such as GIRFT (Getting It Right 
First Time), a programme designed to improve the quality of care within the NHS by reducing unwarranted 
variations 
 
A year like no other – our response to the coronavirus 
 
A crisis like the coronavirus pandemic has seen the NHS at the centre of the nation’s thoughts, from the 
weekly outpourings of public thanks and gratitude to daily televised news conferences on the progress made 
in the fight against it. 
 
We are proud to say that Moorfields staff and teams have shown leadership in the response to this crisis, 
which embody our values of being caring, excellent and inclusive. 
 
Every member of staff, including those in research, education and Moorfields Private, has been affected, and 
two have sadly lost their lives to this terrible disease. Clinics and operations were postponed, as we moved to 
providing only urgent and emergency services. Patients were reassured through a period of change via new 
and expanded helplines and self-care guides.  
 
Sites were vacated, services relocated and consolidated, opened a new injection centre in Purley. The 
flexibility and adaptability of our people has been remarkable, as has their courage in stepping forward to 
support NHS Nightingale, Whittington, Bart’s and several trusts that host our clinics. 
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We innovated at pace, rolling out Attend Anywhere, a video consultation system we had been planning for a 
single-clinic trial to more than 20 services, hitting one thousand appointments within the first month, 
including an innovative on-demand A&E service. Our leaders helped to make sure this consultation service 
could be adopted across the NHS within the first couple of weeks of the outbreak. 
 
We have been struck by the professionalism, heroism and outstanding commitment of colleagues, whether 
at Moorfields or redeployed, often requiring huge personal sacrifice; we are truly humbled to be part of the 
NHS, Moorfields and wider effort to keep people safe. 
 
We look forward to 2020/21, with the opportunity of Oriel before us and the complexities of reopening a full 
range of eye care services to be worked through. We are confident that the spirit, determination and 
ingenuity of our staff, together with their dedication to the best possible care, will guide us as we continually 
challenge ourselves to deliver the best for our patients. 
 
 

                
 
 
Tessa Green    David Probert 
Chairman    Chief executive 
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1. Performance report 

Who we are 

Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Foundation Trust is the leading provider of eye health services in the UK and a 
world-class centre of excellence for ophthalmic research and education. Our reputation for providing the highest 
quality of ophthalmic care has developed over 200 years. The trust has 2,465 (full-time and part-time) staff who 
are committed to sustaining and building on our pioneering history, and ensuring we remain at the cutting edge 
of developments in ophthalmology. 

 
We were one of the first trusts to become a Foundation Trust in 2004 and are a founder member of UCL Partners, 
one of the UK’s first academic health science centres. Moorfields is one of only 20 sites nationally that has 
National Institute of Health Research (NIHR) Biomedical Research Centre (BRC) status, providing us with the 
infrastructure to support major innovative research initiatives and enabling us to fast-track projects to benefit 
patients more quickly.  

 
We have a network of over 25 NHS sites in London and the south east of England, and provide private services 
both in England and internationally. We are registered without conditions and with an overall rating of ‘Good’ 
with the Care Quality Commission (CQC). 
 
What we do 

We provide a wide range of ophthalmic services, caring for patients with routine medical needs as well as those 
with rare and complex conditions. We serve the NHS and private sectors in the UK, and deliver care through our 
international services.  In partnership with the UCL Institute of Ophthalmology and other strategic partners, we 
conduct world-leading research and play a leading role in the training and education of eye care clinicians.  

We have a unique patient case mix and more detail on our services can be found at the following link: 
https://www.moorfields.nhs.uk/listing/services 

How we are structured 

Moorfields North division 

The North Division has 12 satellite and partnership units across the network. We run a district hub from Bedford 
Hospital and this service is also responsible for activity in our community clinic at Bedford Enhanced Services 
Centre. We provide a number of services in East London, including a local surgical centre at Mile End Hospital in 
the heart of Tower Hamlets and community clinics at Barking Community Hospital and the Sir Ludwig Guttmann 
Health and Wellbeing Centre in Stratford, as well as our partnership based at the Homerton Hospital in Hackney 
We also have surgical centres in St Ann’s Hospital in Tottenham and Darent Valley Hospital in Dartford, Kent. 

We provide a number of services for patients in North West London from our district hubs at Ealing Hospital and 
Northwick Park Hospital. We also provide services at our local surgical centre at Potters Bar. We have two local 
partnerships: one in Watford and one in Wealdstone, Harrow.  

In the Moorfields South division we run a district hub from St George’s Hospital in Tooting and this includes 
responsibility for the management of four other locations in south west London, our surgical centre at Queen 
Mary’s Hospital, Roehampton and our community clinic at Nelson Health Centre in Merton. We also run a district 
hub from Croydon University Hospital and a community clinic at Purley War Memorial Hospital. 
 
Moorfields City Road City Road is managed as a unified division and comprises outpatient services from all sub-
specialities (including many referrals from highly specialised services), clinical support services, A&E, a dedicated 
paediatric centre and comprehensive surgical facilities. Other specialty services at City Road include adnexal, 
cataract, corneal, general ophthalmology, glaucoma, ocular oncology, medical retina, uveitis, strabismus, vitreo-
retinal, neuro and genetics. The division is also responsible for our joint working arrangements with Barts Health, 
Guy’s and St Thomas’ hospitals, and Great Ormond Street Hospital for Children.  
 

https://www.moorfields.nhs.uk/listing/services
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Each division is supported by a range of corporate services covering quality and safety, human resources, 
governance, strategy and business development and finance. Our Access directorate is responsible for business 
continuity and emergency preparedness for the Trust and also includes the Trust’s Outpatient booking centre, 
health records department, medical secretaries, referral to treatment (RTT) team and diabetic retinal screening 
team. 
 
Moorfields Private is our private patient unit in London comprising the Moorfields Private Outpatient and 
Diagnostic Centre, providing consulting and diagnostic facilities for both general ophthalmology and refractive 
laser services, together also with a dedicated pharmacy service, minor procedures room and injection suite.   

 
Ward facilities stretch across three separate locations on the fourth floor of the private patient unit comprising 
the former Francis Cumberlege Wing, Club Lounge and Observation Ward.  These areas are now collectively 
referred to as the ‘Moorfields Private Admission and Refractive Laser Suite’. 
 
In 2019/20, Moorfields Private fulfilled over 40,000 outpatients appointments, completed laser procedures on 
over 2,600 eyes and admitted approximately 5,700 patients for surgical procedures making a considerable 
financial surplus which is invested back into the trust for the benefit of its NHS services. 
 
In 2019/2020 a new Senior Management Team was appointed focussing on improving quality, efficiency and 
profitability. This includes an emphasis on marketing to improve awareness and grow patient numbers. 

 
The year saw the consolidation of our twelfth year of operations in Moorfields Eye Hospital Dubai and the 
completion of three years of operations in Moorfields Eye Hospital Centre in Abu Dhabi, where 20% of the Dubai 
facility patient base resides. Despite this, MEH Dubai has seen around 207,000 patients and performed around 
17,000 surgeries since inception. 

 
The healthcare market in the UAE continues to be dynamic. Throughout the year we focused on contracts 
beneficial to increasing the patient flow, developing our market share and increasing awareness of our services 
within the United Arab Emirates and Gulf Cooperation Council. We also added targeted marketing and advertising 
resulting in a higher percentage of new to returning patient ratio than in previous years, in addition to more 
corporate and healthcare referral agreements which maintain and further grow the Moorfields brand.  
 
Moorfields Eye Hospital Centre Abu Dhabi officially opened in 2016 at Abu Dhabi Marina Village and is the first 
joint venture of Moorfields in the Middle East in partnership with United Eastern Medical Services – a local 
healthcare operator and investment group.  

 
We have been very active in the media and in negotiations with insurance companies to facilitate access for Abu 
Dhabi residents to our facility. Since the commencement of operations in Abu Dhabi, we have seen around 57,000 
patients and performed over 2,000 surgical procedures. 
 
Our strategy 
 
We launched our five-year strategy in July 2017 with a new purpose, ‘working together to discover, develop and 
deliver the best eye care’.   

 

 Working together means we collaborate with one another as individuals, with our patients 

and with other organisations. 

 Discover the best eye care means we will focus on setting the agenda, being at the forefront 

for others to follow.  

 Develop the best eye care means we will practically apply our discoveries to benefit our 

patients, staff and the services we provide.  

 Deliver the best eye care means we will consistently provide an excellent, globally-

recognised service. 
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Corporate objectives for 2019/20 

Our corporate objectives set as part of the trust strategy were deliberately ambitious because we wanted to 
challenge ourselves to deliver the best for our patients. The board is using these objectives to track progress over 
the next four years.  

 

 Working together to discover, develop and deliver the best eye care 

Ambitions We will pioneer 
patient-centred care 
with exceptional 
clinical outcomes 
and excellent 
patient experience 

We will be at 
the leading edge 
of research, 
making new 
discoveries with 
our partners and 
patients 

We will innovate by 
sharing our 
knowledge and 
developing 
tomorrow’s experts  

We will collaborate 
to shape national 
policy 

Enablers We will attract, 
retain and develop 
great people 

We will have an 
infrastructure 
and culture that 
supports 
innovation 

We will have a 
sustainable financial 
model 

We will be 
enterprising to 
support and fund 
our ambitions   

 
Our priorities for 2020/21 have been updated to reflect progress made during the past year as well as changes in 
our external context: 
 

 Continue to implement our sub-speciality strategies across the network to ensure we are 

ready for Oriel 

 Implement our new workforce strategy 

 Continue to make progress with our plans for a new centre, achieving formal approval for 

the OBC, submitting our planning application and preparing to submit the FBC.  This includes 

defining Oriel’s place in our wider network. 

 Increase the profit we make from private healthcare to support the Trust’s financial health.   

 Complete the planning and begin implementing a functioning Electronic Medical Record 

(EMR) with integrated diagnostics 

 

Oriel 

The commissioner-led public consultation on the proposal to build a new centre of excellence for eye care, 
research and education at St Pancras, London was successfully launched on 24 May 2019 and closed on 16 
September 2019. On 12 February 2020 our lead commissioners approved the proposal.  We would like to thank 
the many patients, carers, members of the public, staff and stakeholder groups who have taken the time to 
contribute their views to the consultation. 
 
Consultation activity included: 
 

 5,615 people visited the Oriel website, resulting in 18,632 page views 

 Over 50 meetings were held with around 880 public and patient representatives, plus around 100 
participants in the RDCEC 'lessons learned' exercise. 

 Over 27 meetings were held with staff from across our network 
 
Over 1,500 survey responses were received mainly from patients, carers and the public (77%) with staff responses 
at 17%.  73% of respondents agreed or agreed strongly with the proposal that the new centre should be located 
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at St Pancras. This was due to its location, access to public transport, available space and proximity to the 
research community. The key message arising from the consultation was that of accessibility and the 
development of the ‘last half mile’.  
All the information gathered throughout the consultation has been incorporated into design briefs which our 
architects are now using to create preliminary designs for the new centre. We aim to involve colleagues and 
patients as much as possible in the design process so that we create a centre that meets the needs of staff, 
patients and visitors. 

A going concern disclosure 

After making enquiries, the directors have a reasonable expectation that Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Foundation 
Trust has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, 
they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the accounts. 

Key issues and risks  

The trust’s board assurance framework includes the high level risks to the organisation. These are rated 
depending on the level and potential impact of risk, with red being the highest. A summary following a review in 
January 2020 is included in the Annual Governance Statement at section 4.5. 

 

The year at Moorfields 
 
Patient activity 
Moorfields’ NHS patient activity and the total volume of Moorfields’ NHS activity in 2019/20 are shown in 
the table below, with figures from 2017/18 and 2018/19 for comparison. This year saw a decrease in our 
A&E attendances but this was singularly due to the impact of Covid-19 during March. The 11 months up 
until the end of February had seen a year-on-year increase of 2.3% but March attendances dropped to 
approximately half of the number of patients we would normally expect to see. End of year Inpatient and 
Outpatient numbers have also been affected by the response to Covid-19 during March but Inpatient 
attendances were still above those recorded for last year, whilst Outpatients only fell short of the previous 
year by approximately 850 attendances. Overall, despite the impact of March figures, the Trust still 
increased its total level of activity when compared to 2018/19. 

 

 

 

 

 

Note: discrepancies between annual reports are attributable to the timing of the data run each year. 

Performance analysis 2019/20 

The Integrated Performance Report (IPR) provides the Board with in depth information on the performance of 
Moorfields. Each month, the performance and information department report on the following areas: 
 

 operational measures such as A&E measures, attendance rates, theatres utilisation and 

waiting time; 

 workforce measures such as staff vacancy rate; 

 quality and safety measures such as rates of infection; 

 research and development measures such as number of studies closed; 

 finance measures such as variance from financial plan; and 

 

Activity number 

Point of delivery 2017/18 2018/19  2019/20  

A&E 96,947 97,222 95,523 

Inpatient day case 37,718 37,787 40,383 

Inpatient elective (planned) 1,184 1,142 1,582 

Inpatient non-elective (unplanned) 2,780 2,630 2,957 

Outpatient 601,986 644,196 643,343 

Grand total 740,615 782,977 783,788 
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 commercial and private patient measures. 

For this reporting year we have refined the IPR to reflect a balanced scorecard approach that takes into account 
both the Trust Objectives and the Care Quality Commission (CQC) domains. The report gives an overview and 
detailed performance for each individual metric, comparing this month’s performance to previous months and 
the target. A red, amber or green rating method shows whether a target is achieved, with green indicating 
performance is on target. Importantly, the report also identifies additional information and remedial action plans 
for any metrics which are rated red or amber. The report is shared with internal and external stakeholders.  
 
18-weeks referral to treatment (RTT) standard 
 

Indicator Target 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 

18-weeks RTT incomplete – all pathways 
≥ 92% 

(96.5%) 
95.3%  94.5% 

94.4%** 

18-weeks RTT incomplete – pathways with 
DTA* 

n/a 88.5%  87.9% 
Not yet 

available 

New RTT periods all patients n/a 145,312 143,420 
Not yet 

available 

* decision to admit. 
**April-Feb (inclusive) data  
 

Performance for the measure retained as the primary key performance indicator (18-weeks referral to treatment 
incomplete) has continued to exceed the nationally set annual target of 92%, and maintained its position in 
comparison to the previous year’s figure.  

 

A&E 
 

Indicator Target 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 

A&E four-hour performance ≥ 95%  98.5% 98.4% 98.5% 

Total number of arrivals in 
A&E 

N/A 96,947 97,221 
95,523 

Time to treatment in A&E 
department – median 

≤ 60 mins 120 127 
126 

Time to assessment in A&E 
department – median 

≤ 15mins 26 15 
 

18 
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A national requirement is to report the proportion of attendances lasting fewer than four hours from arrival to 
admission, transfer or discharge in A&E. This has a minimum target of 95% which we have consistently exceeded 
and improved upon. 

 
Compared to 2018/19 the number of A&E attendances reported have decreased by approximately 1700 patients. 
However this includes a significant reduction in March 2020 due to Covid-19, up to that point the first eleven 
months of the year had seen a 2.3% increase on the previous year. A&E throughput times have largely remained 
consistent with the previous year. 
 
Cancer waiting times 
 

Indicator Target 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 

Cancer two week waits – first 
appointment urgent GP referral 

≥ 93% 96.9% 94.3% 96.2%** 

% cancer 14-day target – NHS England 
referrals (ocular oncology) 

≥ 93% 89.8% 76.9% 90.9%** 

Cancer 31-day waits – diagnosis to 
first appointment 

≥ 96% 95.7% 97.6% 99.2%** 

Cancer 31-day waits – subsequent 
treatment 

≥ 94% 98.1% 100% 100%** 

Cancer 62-days from urgent GP 
referral to first definitive treatment 

≥ 85% 100% 100% 83.3%** 

**April-Feb (inclusive) data  
 
Cancer waiting times performance has improved in four out of our five key indicators this year and the national 
targets for these metrics have been exceeded.  

 
Cancer targets are challenging and the relatively low number of patients makes performance percentages 
fluctuate. Performance can be influenced by patient choice or the fitness of the patient to undergo surgery, much 
of which is outside of the control of the trust. The issue of patient choice was the reason why the trust failed to 
reach its target with just one patient out of the six that fell into this category opting to delay their treatment for 
personal reasons.   
 
Access 
 

Indicator Target 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 

Diagnostic waiting times – six weeks ≥ 99% 100% 100% 100% 

Percentage of GP referrals from electronic 
booking 

100% 57.7% 89.4% 88.9% 

 
The electronic GP referral is short of target but reflects the Trusts commitment to patient safety whereby patients 
are not disadvantaged if their referral comes via an alternative, non-electronic route.  

 
Diagnostic waiting times have again been better than target. 
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Outpatient activity 
 

 
 
This table shows all activity for Moorfields systems, not including Bedford. 
 

Indicator 2017/18 
 

2018/19 
 

 
2019/20 

 

Outpatient total attendances – first appointment 127,859 136,396 132,821 

Outpatient total attendances – follow up 
appointments 

439, 997 465,715 467,400 

Outpatient cancellations (hospital cancellations)  2.93% 3.52% 4.6% 

Outpatient DNA* rate – first appointment 12.4% 11.6% 11.8% 

Outpatient DNA* rate – follow up appointment 11.0% 10.4% 10.5% 

 
Commentary – will need a decision about whether to discuss Covid-19 and how – for example March cancellations 
figure was almost 17%, average to that point was 3.6%.  
 
Safety 
 

Indicator Target 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 

Number of MRSA cases 0 0  0 0 

Number of Clostridium difficile 
cases 

0 0  
0 0 

Venous thromboembolism (VTE) 
screening 

≥ 95% 98.6% 98.2%  98.5% 

Mixed sex accommodation 0 2  0 0 

 
Performance within the safety arena has been strong with all key targets met. 

 
Service delivery measures 
 
Ward staffing levels are calculated for those wards with inpatient beds, which for Moorfields include the 
observation unit and Francis Cumberlege wing at City Road and Duke Elder Ward at St George’s Hospital. The data 
included reflects the national methodology which requires trusts to publish fill rates for both registered nursing 
staff and care staff separated into day and night periods. This data is shown in the table below. 
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New Measures – Surgery 
In 2017/18, new surgery measures were implemented as part of the new Integrated Performance Report. We 
continue to monitor these measures and the results are below. 
 

Indicator Target 2017/18 2018/19 
 

2019/20 

Theatre Cancellation Rate ≤7.0% 7.0% 7.1% 6.3%% 

Safer Surgery Checklist: Percentage of audited "Team 
Briefing" stage elements compliant with requirements 

≥95% 93.3% 97% 99.7% 

Safer Surgery Checklist: Percentage of audited "Sign 
In" stage elements compliant with requirements 

≥95% 99.7% 100% 99.775% 

Safer Surgery Checklist: Percentage of audited "Time 
Out" stage elements compliant with requirements 

≥95% 98.9% 99.8% 99.25% 

Safer Surgery Checklist: Percentage of audited "Sign 
Out" stage elements compliant with requirements 

≥95% 98.2% 99.5% 98.9% 

Safer Surgery Checklist: Percentage of audited "Team 
Debrief" stage elements compliant with requirements 

≥95% 96.7% 99.0% 97.875% 

 
Theatre cancellation rate included both medical and non-medical cancellations and has seen an improvement on 
previous years. The target for the Safer Surgery Checklist was increased this year to 95%, and we are proud to 
report we have achieved the target for all of our Safer Surgery Checklist measures.  
 
Financial report  
The financial year saw challenges across the NHS, particularly as a result of coronavirus. The Trust reported a 
deficit of £0.8m compared to a surplus of £8.5 million in 2018/19. Significant factors were the reduction in income 
from NHS Improvement in relation to Provider Sustainability Fund/Financial Recovery Fund income of £6.0 million 
to £2 million in 2019/20 (2018/19 £8.0 million), and increases in the impairment of assets of £1.2 million in-year.  
 
Statement of comprehensive income 
Income for the year was £251.9 million (2018/19: £235.3 million) on a headline basis and £249.8 million (2018/19: 
£227.3 million) on an underlying basis when the impact of NHS Improvement Provider Sustainability Fund is 
excluded.  

 
Income and expenditure 
 
 

All figures in £’million 2019/20 2018/19 

Income   

Income from activities   

NHS income 196.9 175.8 

Designation  
Percentage fill rate 

2019/20  

Registered nurses – day 95.20% 

Registered nurses – night 100.50% 

Care staff – day 96.70% 

Care staff – night  112.10% 

Total fill rate  97.30% 
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Private patient income 30.8 28.6 

Total income from activities 227.7 204.4 

NHS Improvement Provider Sustainability 
Fund 

2.0 8.0 

Other operating income 23.0 22.9 

Total other operating income 25.0 30.9 

Total income 252.7 235.3 

   

Expenses   

Pay costs 135.6 125.7 

Non-pay costs 109.2 94.7 

Depreciation and amortisation 7.1 7.3 

Total operating expenses 
 

251.9 227.7 

Operating surplus 0.8 7.6 

   

Interest and dividends (1.6) (1.4) 

Other one-off gains for disposal of assets 
and share of JV profit / (loss) 

(0.0) 2.3 

   

Surplus for the year  (0.8)                8.5 

 
There was a significant level of growth in Outpatients, Accident and Emergency, and Intra-vitreal Injection activity, 
resulting in income from NHS activities continuing to grow, increasing by £21.1 million (12.0%) to £196.9 million 
(2018/19: £175.8 million). 

 
Income from our Private and Overseas Patient activities in London and United Arab Emirates increased during the 
year by £1.3 million (5.2%) to £29.9 million (2018/19: £28.6 million).  
 
Other operating income including Research and Development, Education and Training, Charitable Income, and 
Other Income, increased by £0.1 million (0.0%), to £23.0 million (2018/19: £22.9 million).  
 
Operating expenditure excluding impairments increased  in-year by £23.2 million (9.3%) to £248.3 million 
(2018/19: £225.1 million), following investments and growth in our core NHS clinical services, including a material 
increase in injection activity leading to further staff and drugs costs.   
 
Pay costs increased by £9.9 million (7.3%) to £135.6 million (2018/19: £125.7 million), due mainly to pay inflation, 
additional pension contributions and growth in staff delivering additional activity and income.  Non-pay costs 
increased by £13.6 million (12.5%) to £108.3 million (2018/19: £94.7 million), which is largely due to increased 
drugs costs as a result of higher activity levels and R&D activity matched to additional income. Non –pay costs 
include £3.9m (£4.1m 18/19) on consultancy spend. This includes payments for specialist services and advice from 
external subject matter experts 
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Income disclosures 
Section 43(2A) of the NHS Act 2006 (as amended by the Health and Social Care Act 2012) requires that the income 
from the provision of goods and services for the purposes of the health service in England must be greater than 
its income from the provision of goods and services for any other purposes.  
 
The trust met this requirement. In 2019/20, 13.1% of income from provision of goods and services was derived 
from non-NHS income (2018/19 14.0%).  
 
Section 43(3A) of the NHS Act 2006 requires NHS foundation trusts to provide information on the impact that 
other income it has received has had on its provision of goods and services for the purposes of the health service 
in England.  
 
Surpluses from other income the Trust received have been used to support the provision of goods and services 
for the purposes of the health service in England. 

 
Statement of financial position 
Total assets have increased by £1.5m million to £90.1 million as at 31 March 2020 (2018/19: £88.6 million). Non-
current assets increased by £6.9 million to £96.8 million (2018/19: £89.9 million).  
 
Current assets reduced by £0.1 million to £77.7 million (2018/19: £77.8 million), driven by a reduction in 
receivables netted off by increased cash balances.  
 
Current liabilities have increased by £6.2m at £47.2million (2018/19: £41.0 million) due to an increase in 
provisions and accruals. Non-current liabilities reduced by £0.9 million to £37.2 million (2018/19: £38.1 million) 
primarily as a result of loan repayments made during the financial year. 
 
Taxpayers’ equity increased by £1.5 million during the year. This was due to the reported deficit of £0.8 million 
offset by changes in the Revaluation Reserve and Other Equity Reserve. 
 
Statement of cash flows 
The trust generated a net cash in-flow of £23.4 million from operations in 2019/20. The net cash surplus from 
operations was used to internally fund capital expenditure of £13.3 million (2018/19: £11.1 million) and loan 
repayment, net interest and Public Dividend Capital (PDC) payments of £3.2 million (2018/19: £3.5 million). 
 
The trust ended the year with an improved level of cash at £52.4 million (2018/19 £45.3 million) an increase of 
£7.1 million as a result of increased debt collection during the year.  
 
Counter-fraud arrangements 
The trust has established a counter-fraud policy and response plan to minimise the risk of fraud or corruption. The 
trust’s local counter-fraud specialist (LCFS) reports to the chief financial officer and performs a programme of 
work designed to provide assurance to the board in regard to fraud and corruption. The LCFS also gives regular 
fraud awareness sessions for Moorfields’ staff and investigates concerns reported by staff. If these are 
substantiated, the trust takes appropriate criminal, civil or disciplinary measures. 

 
Political donations 
The trust made no political donations during 2019/20 (2018/19: nil). 
 
Commissioning arrangements 
The trust undertook £180.9 million of contracted clinical activity in 2019/20 for commissioners from across the 
UK. Of this, £154.6 million relates to our contracts with 87 clinical commissioning groups (CCGs), a further £21.3 
million with NHS England, with the remaining income relating to patient activity undertaken for clinical 
commissioning groups who do not usually contract with the trust.  
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Further information on the trust’s financial position can be found in the annual accounts.  
 
Better payment practice code 
The better payments practice code requires the trust to aim to pay all undisputed invoices by the due date or 
within 30 days of receipt of goods or a valid invoice, whichever is later.  
 
The trust achieves the aims of the better payment practice code in the majority of cases, and works with staff and 
suppliers throughout the year to minimise the remaining cases. 
 
 

 
2019/20 2019/20 2018/19 2018/19 

 
Number £000 Number £000 

Non NHS         

Total bills paid in the year 40,078 137,732 42,878 129,806 

Total bills paid within target 34,724 121,308 37,914 113,829 

Percentages of bills paid within target 87% 88% 88% 88% 

NHS         

Total bills paid in the year 2,228 19,441 1,866 21,876 

Total bills paid within target 1,274 9,253 1,209 11,167 

Percentages of bills paid within target 57% 48% 65% 51% 

Total   
 

    

Total bills paid in the year 42,306 157,173 44,744 151,682 

Total bills paid within target 35,998 130,561 39,123 124,996 

Percentages of bills paid within target 85% 83% 87% 82% 

 
 

Single oversight framework 
NHS England and NHS Improvement’s NHS Oversight Framework provides the framework for overseeing 
providers and identifying potential support needs. The framework looks at five themes: 
 

 quality of care 

 finance and use of resources 

 operational performance 

 strategic change 

 leadership and improvement capability (well-led). 

Based on information from these themes, providers are segmented from 1 to 4, where ‘4’ reflects providers 
receiving the most support, and ‘1’ reflects providers with maximum autonomy. A foundation trust will only be in 
segments 3 or 4 where it has been found to be in breach or suspected breach of its license. 
 
Finance and use of resources 
The finance and use of resources theme is based on the scoring of five measures from ‘1’ to ‘4’, where ‘1’ reflects 
the strongest performance. These scores are then weighted to give an overall score. Given that finance and use of 
resources is only one of the five themes feeding into the NHS Oversight Framework, the segmentation of the trust 
disclosed above might not be the same as the overall finance score here. 
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Area Metric 2019/20 scores 

    Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 

Financial sustainability 

 
Capital service capacity 
 1 1 2 2 

 
Liquidity 
 1 1 1 1 

 
Financial efficiency 
 

I&E margin 
 2 3 3 4 

Financial controls 

 
Distance from financial plan 
 1 1 1 1 

 
Agency spend 
 1 1 1 1 

Overall scoring 1 1 2 3 

 
The trust has complied with all cost allocation and charging guidance issued by HM Treasury. 
 
The trust has no income generating schemes with an individual cost exceeding £1m. 

 
The trust’s aspiration for equality, diversity and inclusion is a culture which supports staff in realising their own 
potential while supporting patients in realising the best possible health outcomes.   

 
Our equality, diversity and human rights policy sets out how we ensure that neither patients nor staff are treated 
differently because of any protected characteristic they may have. For new recruits this is supported by a 
comprehensive recruitment policy as well as training for managers in managing equality, diversity and inclusion.  

 
A new pathway approach to challenging harassment, bullying or behaviours that make our staff feel 
uncomfortable has been developed and rolled out across the organisation. The pathway provides staff with a 
greater level of support to challenge poor behaviour from colleagues.  

 
We are also accredited with the ‘two ticks’ status which guarantees people with a disability an interview if they 
meet the minimum criteria for a role. We have continued the development of staff networks following on from 
the establishment of MoorAbility, our first network for staff with a disability. There are now networks for black 
and minority ethnic staff (BeMoor) and LGBT staff (MoorPride).  

Our equality objectives 
To improve the equality outcomes for patients, carers and visitors we are committed to: 

 improving the experience of people identified by the protected characteristics when 
waiting for their appointment 

 making information more accessible and specific to patients who have a clinical need. 
 

To improve the equality outcomes for our staff we are committed to: 

 increasing the diversity of people in leadership and management roles 

 continuing to build a strong and positive culture of inclusion 

 improving our collection of equality data. 

 sharing our leadership of inclusion across our community 

 broadening our reach to voluntary partners to gain different perspectives. 
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We have improved facilities and sustainability by undertaking a refurbishment of our restaurant and 
catering facility and the education suite located in Ebenezer Street. The restaurant project consisted of a 
redevelopment of the 3rd floor facility, with new serveries and seating in a fresh and open layout. The 
education space is multi-use with flexible walling allowing large gatherings or intimacy as required with a 
centralised audio-visual system and video conferencing linked worldwide.   
 
We also undertook the final phase of the expansion and improvements to the admission facilities on the 
Francis Cumberlege Wing for Moorfields Private, incorporating a hoist facility and full wet-room facility.  
 
Our ongoing commitment to improve the hospital and enhance the patient and staff experience is 
identified within the backlog and life cycle maintenance programme led to a number of projects being 
undertaken in 2019/20,including roofing and external fabric repairs, heating ventilation and cooling 
systems upgrades and replacement entrance doors. 
 
As an NHS organisation, and as a spender of public funds, we have an obligation to work in a way that has a 
positive effect on our communities. Sustainability means spending public money well, the smart and 
efficient use of natural resources and building healthy, resilient communities. By making the most of social, 
environmental and economic assets we can improve health both in the immediate and long term even in 
the context of rising cost of natural resources. Demonstrating that we consider the social and 
environmental impacts ensures that the legal requirements in the Public Services (Social Value) Act (2012) 
are met. We acknowledge this responsibility to our patients, local communities and the environment by 
working hard to minimise our footprint. 
 
One of the ways in which an organisation can embed sustainability is through the use of a sustainable 
development management plan (SDMP). We have a board approved SDMP which we use as the basis for 
managing our sustainability obligations. 
 

As recommended by the NHS Sustainable Development Unit, our SDMP identifies the Sustainable 
Development Assessment Tool (SDAT). We have used the Assessment Tool to create the plan of actions 
and activities that supports sustainability both inside and outside our organisation. Through our 
Sustainability Steering Group we have assigned the objectives and tasks to ensure all actions are 
completed and aligned against the UN Sustainable Development Goals. The main goal is to achieve a 
sustainable, low carbon organisation that is managed effectively and efficiently, achieving value for money 
with a reduced environmental impact.   
 
In 2014, the NHS Sustainable Development Strategy outlined an ambition to reduce the carbon footprint of 
the NHS by 28% (from a 2013 baseline) by 2020. We have supported this ambition as follows: 
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The graph shows all energy supplies where Moorfields is responsible for its procurement. It demonstrates that 
our carbon footprint has reduced by 34% when comparing 2013/14 and 2018/19. This puts Moorfields well on 
target to overachieve the NHS carbon reduction objective. 
 
Details of our water consumption can be found below: 

 
Mains Water and 
Sewage spend 

13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20 

Consumption (m3) 20,623 26,273 65,129 56,358 60,590 56,671 45,069 

Cost  
£31,539 £47,026 £137,29

9 
£117,596 £99,372 £122,850 £109,527 

Data notes 
 

1. In the absence of published 2019 figures, 2018 DEFRA carbon emissions factors have been 

used for 2019 energy consumption 

2. 0.3% of total energy consumption based on estimates 

3. 1% of 2016/17 and 53% of 2017/18 water consumption based on estimates 

Emergency planning, preparedness and resilience (EPPR) 
Each year the trust undertakes an EPPR process review, the aim of which is to assure NHS England that the trust is 
prepared to respond to an emergency, and has the resilience in place to continue to provide safe patient care 
during a major incident or business continuity event. This year the trust was awarded a green rating with full 
compliance in all standards.   
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3.9 Chief executive’s statement on performance 2019/20 

 
Moorfields has performed well both operationally and financially in 2019/20, despite continuing challenges faced 
by all NHS organisations.  
 
Providing safe and effective services for our patients underpins everything we do and we strive to maintain our 
high levels of patient feedback so that we can continue to improve services according to the needs of our patients 
and carers. This year our 2019/20 national friends and family test stated that over 95% of respondents would 
recommend us to their friends and family. 
 
In 2019/20, we had over 750,000 patient appointments across our sites. We performed well against national and 
local standards in 2019/20 achieving all of the operational Single Oversight Framework targets, namely A&E 
maximum four hour waits, 18-week referral to treatment, Cancer 62 Day Waits, and Diagnostics six week waiting.  

In the year we saw over 95,000 visits in A&E. Our clinical outcomes and safety record remain excellent, with 
ophthalmic clinical outcomes evidenced amongst the best in the world. Once again, our Infection Control team 
have excelled and in 2019/20 we have had no cases of MRSA or Clostridium difficile. 
 
The year saw financial challenges across the broader NHS, and the Trust reported a deficit of £0.8m compared to 
a surplus of £8.5 million in 2018/19. A significant factor was the reduction in  income from NHS Improvement in 
relation to Provider Sustainability Fund/Financial Recovery Fund income of £6.0 million to £2 million in 2019/20 
(2018/19 £8.0 million), and increases in the impairment of assets of £1.2 million in-year. 
 
The trust capital programme supported the continued investment across our activities and was financed entirely 
through internally generated cash and reserves. Total capital expenditure for the year was £13.5 million. Together 
with prudent management of working capital this enabled us to increase our cash reserves to £53.4 million 
(2018/19 £45.3m) and maintain the highest possible regulatory financial risk rating at the close of the financial 
year.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

David Probert 
Chief Executive 
25 June 2020 
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4. Accountability report 

4.1 Directors’ report 

The board of directors holds overall accountability for the organisation and is responsible for strategic direction 
and the high-level allocation of resources. It delegates decision making for the operational running of the trust to 
the chief executive. The board of directors is accountable, via the chair and non-executive directors, to the 
membership council who represent the public, patients and staff. 

The directors are additionally responsible for preparing the annual report and accounts. Taken as a whole, they 
consider these are fair, balanced and understandable and provide the information necessary for patients, 
regulators and other stakeholders to assess Moorfields’ performance, business model and strategy. 

The board comprises 15 members, eight non-executive directors (seven of whom are considered to be 
independent, the eighth being a representative of the UCL Institute of Ophthalmology as defined in the trust’s 
constitution) and six executive directors.  

Non-executive directors, including the chairman, are appointed by the membership council following 
recommendations from the remuneration and nomination committee for non-executive directors. Executive 
directors are appointed by the remuneration and nomination committee of the board. 

The board of directors believes it has the appropriate balance and completeness in its composition to meet the 
requirements of an NHS foundation trust. As at 31 March 2020, the following individuals comprised the voting 
members of the board of directors (expiry of terms of office for non-executive directors are listed): 

Tessa Green – chairman (F) (3 years – 31.08.2022) 

David Probert – chief executive (M) 

Steve Williams – vice chairman and senior independent director (M) (1 year – 15.03.21) 

Vineet Bhalla – independent non-executive director (M) (3 years – 15.03.23) 

Professor Andrew Dick – non-executive director (M) (3 years – 30.09.22) 

Rosalind Given-Wilson – independent non-executive director (F) (3 years – 30.04.21) 

Nick Hardie – independent non-executive director (M) (3 years – 31.12.22) 

David Hills – independent non-executive director (M) (3 years – 31.03.23) 

Richard Holmes – independent non-executive director (M) (3 years – 15.03.23) 

Sumita Singha – independent non-executive director (F) (1 year – 21.04.21) 

Jonathan Wilson – chief financial officer (M) 

Nick Strouthidis – medical director (M) 

Tracy Luckett – director of nursing and allied health professions (F) 

Professor Sir Peng Tee Khaw – director of research & development (M) 

John Quinn – chief operating officer (M) 

 

The associate directors listed below attend board meetings, but do not have voting rights: 

Johanna Moss – director of strategy & business development (F) 

Elisa Steele – chief information officer (F)  

Ian Tombleson – director of quality & patient safety (M) 

Sandi Drewett – director of workforce & OD (F) 

Kieran McDaid – director of estates, capital and major projects (M) 

Professor Nora Colton – director of education (joint appointment with UCL Institute of Ophthalmology (F) 

 

Full profiles of all board members can be found here: https://www.moorfields.nhs.uk/content/trust-board 

 

https://www.moorfields.nhs.uk/content/trust-board
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2019/20 attendance record – board of directors 
 

Name Apr 19  2 May 19 28 May 19 Jul 19 Sep 19 Oct 19 Dec 19 Jan 20 Feb 20 Mar 20 Total 

 
Tessa Green 

√ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ 10/10 

 
David Probert 

√ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ 10/10 

 
Steve Williams 

√ √  √  √ √ √ √ √ 8/10 

 
Vineet Bhalla 

* * * * * * * * * √ 1/1 

 
Andrew Dick 

√  √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ 9/10 

 
Ros Given-Wilson 

√ √ √ √ √ √  √ √  8/10 

 
Nick Hardie 

√ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ 10/10 

 
David Hills 

√ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ 10/10 

 
Richard Holmes 

* * * * * * * * * √ 1/1 

 
Sumita Singha 

√ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ 10/10 

 
Jonathan Wilson 

√ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ 10/10 

 
Nick Strouthidis 

 √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ 9/10 

 
Tracy Luckett 

 √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ 9/10 

 
Peng Tee Khaw 

√  √ √  √ √ √ √ √ 8/10 

 
John Quinn 

√ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ 10/10 

* Not in post 
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The register of interests of individual directors is available to the public on request and also via the trust’s 

website via https://www.moorfields.nhs.uk/content/trust-board. Please write to: company secretary, Moorfields 

Eye Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, 162 City Road, London EC1V 2PD, email: foundation@moorfields.nhs.uk or 

phone: 020 7566 2490.  

Audit and risk committee 

The board is required to maintain a sound system of internal control to safeguard its NHS clinical services, assets, 

and non-NHS commercial services and investments. The audit and risk committee provides assurance to the 

board about the adequacy and effectiveness of the trust’s systems of internal control, its governance processes, 

service quality and economy, efficiency and effectiveness (value for money). The committee also recommends to 

the board the approval of the trust’s annual accounts and financial statements, management letter of 

representation and annual governance statement. Together with the quality and safety committee, the audit and 

risk committee recommend to the board the approval of the trust’s annual quality report. 

In carrying out its duties, the audit and risk committee draws on, but is not limited to, the work of internal and 

external audit, the local counter-fraud specialist, financial, performance and other evidenced assurance reports 

from management. 

The audit and risk committee provides written activity reports following each committee meeting. These reports 

increase the visibility of the audit process to stakeholders.  

The audit and risk committee assists the board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities in respect of the integrity 

of the trust’s accounts, risk management and internal control arrangements, compliance with legal and regulatory 

requirements, the performance, qualifications and independence of the external auditors and the performance of 

the internal audit function.  

Management supplies the audit and risk committee with the information necessary for the performance of its 

duties. The internal auditors, the local counter-fraud specialist and the external auditors have direct access to the 

committee chairman and members separately from management. 

The audit and risk committee comprises three non-executive directors, including the quality and safety 

committee chair. The board has satisfied itself that all the members of the committee are competent in financial 

matters. The chair has recent and relevant financial experience. The committee’s meetings are attended by the 

chief financial officer, internal auditors, local counter-fraud specialist, external auditors and others as required. 

The chairman and the chief executive have a standing invitation to attend the committee on an annual basis.  

During 2019/20, the audit committee met as follows: 

Members/ dates 16.04.19 23.05.19 16.07.19 15.10.19 14.01.19 Totals  

Nick Hardie (chair) √ √ √ √ √ 5/5 

Ros Given-Wilson  √ √ √ √ 4/5 

David Hills √ √  √ √ 4/5 

Total 2 3 2 3 3  

https://www.moorfields.nhs.uk/content/trust-board
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The audit and risk committee work plan covers a wide range of issues and reports were received during from a 

number of sources. Key areas and issues that were considered include divisional governance, core financial 

systems, UAE, access and activity data, lessons learned, consultant job planning, EBME, incident reporting, DSP 

toolkit and risk maturity .  

The trust’s internal audit function is performed by KPMG LLP. The role of internal audit is to focus on reviewing 

areas that either complement or underpin delivery of the trust’s strategy, based on risk assessment. KPMG 

provide written updates on progress against an annual internal audit work plan and any recommendations made 

to management. This enables the committee to track both the timely completion of the work plan and the 

implementation of recommendations by management.  

Where internal audit reviews indicate a material, significant or repeated theme of concern, the committee also 

makes recommendations for the board to assess and seek adequate assurance from executive management as 

necessary. 

Moorfields’ external auditor is Grant Thornton LLP (from December 2019). Prior to that the trust’s external 
auditor was Deloitte.  

The trust and Grant Thornton have safeguards in place to avoid the possibility that the external auditors’ 

objectivity and independence could be compromised. The audit and risk committee reviews the annual report 

from the external auditors and actions they take to comply with professional and regulatory requirements and 

best practice designed to ensure their independence from the trust. 

The audit and risk committee also reviews the statutory audit and other services (as relevant) provided by Grant 

Thornton, and compliance with the trust’s policy which describes in detail the types of services which the external 

auditors can and cannot provide. The services provided by Grant Thornton relate to: 

 external audit  

 other audit services, for example work that regulators require the auditors to undertake, 

such as on behalf of a regulator  

All engagements with the external auditors over a specified amount require the advance approval of the chair of 

the audit and risk committee. The policy is regularly reviewed and where necessary is amended in the light of 

internal developments, external requirements and best practice. 

So far as the directors are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the auditors are unaware and 

the directors have taken all the steps they should in order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit 

information and to establish that the auditors are aware of that information. 

Recommendations from the audit and risk committee to the membership council 

Following completion of the work of the external auditors, the audit and risk committee did not identify any 

matters where it considered that action or improvement needed to be reported to the membership council. The 

committee made a positive report to the governors which included that the external audit was of a sufficiently 

high standard and the fees were reasonable and in line with the agreed contract.  
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Remuneration and nomination committee 

The remuneration and nominations committee is responsible for two key areas:  

 Setting the pay and terms of employment of executive directors and other board-level posts, as 
well as taking an overview of performance reward strategy in the trust.  

 Making recommendations to the board about the appointment of executive and other director 
positions. A rigorous selection process took place during 2019/20 to recruit a new chief 
information officer. 

The committee is chaired by the trust’s chairman and comprises all non-executive directors, with the 

exception of Andrew Dick. The chief executive and the director of workforce and organisation 

development attend meetings of the remuneration and nominations committee in an advisory capacity. 

The committee’s decisions are informed by benchmarking information from published reward research, 

such as the NHS boardroom pay report, and surveys of other trusts’ remuneration for similar posts.  

During 2019/20, the remuneration and nominations committee met as follows: 

 

Members / dates 04.04.19 04.07.19 23.01.20 Totals 

Tessa Green √ √ √ 3/3 

Steve Williams √ √ √ 3/3 

Ros Given-Wilson √  √ 2/3 

Nick Hardie √ √ √ 3/3 

David Hills √ √ √ 3/3 

Sumita Singha √ √ √ 3/3 

 

Accounting policies for pensions and other retirement benefits are set out in note 9. Details of employee costs 

can be found in note 8 in the annual accounts. 

Performance evaluation 

Executive directors each undergo formal annual appraisals led by the chief executive which are considered further 

by the board’s remuneration committee. During 2019/20 the chairman discussed individual performance with all 

non-executive directors. The vice-chairman of the board discussed the chairman’s performance with non-

executive directors. The outcomes of these discussions were taken to the remuneration and nominations 

committee of the membership council.  

The following non-statutory committees have also been established by the board of directors: 
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Strategy and commercial committee  

The purpose of the committee is to review, on behalf of the board, the following key areas; 

 the development of strategic plans  

 the development of the annual plan, which will include the translation of strategic plans into 

shorter term plans 

 monitoring the implementation of strategic plans and the annual plan 

 oversight of Project Oriel and other significant capital projects 

 the development of business cases and investment proposals, including the approval of business 

cases within the limits set in standing financial instructions (SFIs) 

 oversight of the research activity carried out by and for the trust 

Quality and Safety committee 

The purpose of the committee is to review, on behalf of the board, the following key areas; 

 to provide oversight and board assurance about the quality and safety aspects of clinical services 

 to provide assurance about legal compliance with health and safety and related legislation 

 to steer the quality aspects of the trust's strategy and quality improvement plan 

 to oversee the development and implementation of the quality account 

People and culture committee 

The purpose of the committee is to review, on behalf of the board, the following key areas: 

 the recruitment, retention, management and development of the trust’s workforce strategy  

 the education strategy of the trust and its implementation 

 the trust’s obligations under the public sector equality duty including workforce race equality 

standards and workforce disability equality standards  

Finance committee 

The purpose of the committee is to review, on behalf of the board, the following key areas; 

 financial policies and strategy 

 financial performance and delivery of the trust budget   

Capital scrutiny committee  

 the purpose of the committee is to provide advice and scrutiny to the trust board on all capital 

investment projects >£2m. 

 the committee is led by a property professional able to advise and challenge the executives 

responsible for the trust’s capital programme (currently the director of estates, capital and 

major projects and the director of strategy and business development).  

All subcommittees of the board are chaired by non-executive directors and, with the exception of the audit 

and risk and remuneration and nominations committees, the membership and quorum is made up of both 

non-executive and executive directors.  
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Membership report 

The membership council has a duty under the NHS Act 2006 to represent the interests of NHS foundation trust 

members and the public and trust staff in the governance of an NHS foundation trust. The membership council 

includes elected and nominated governors as shown in the table overleaf and has decision-making powers defined 

by statute. These powers are described in the constitution and are mainly concerned with holding to account the 

non-executive directors individually and collectively for the performance of the trust board; the appointment, 

removal and remuneration of the chairman and non-executive directors; the appointment and removal of our 

external auditors; the provision of views on strategic plans; and representing the views of members. 

The council formally met four times during 2019/20 to discuss a wide range of subjects, including Oriel 

engagement, language services, complaints, digital innovation, the governor’s chosen quality account indicator and 

the annual complaints report.  

Executive and non-executive directors routinely attend membership council meetings. Governors receive a copy of 

the public board papers and are actively encouraged to attend the meetings. A summary of board meetings is 

included as a standing item on the council’s agenda. Feedback from membership council meetings is provided at 

the next available board meeting. Governors are encouraged to provide as much feedback to membership council 

meetings as possible, and this includes reporting from their established subgroups and any site visits they 

undertake.  

Governors also receive briefings from non-executive directors on the work of their committees and what is in their 

portfolio. These include briefings on quality and safety and the patient experience, research, strategic and 

commercial projects, the audit committee, annual accounts and annual report and the people and culture 

committee. This provides governors with assurance that non-executive directors are effectively scrutinising the 

performance of the organisation in key areas.  

The trust holds an annual session with governors to discuss the trust’s operational plan and their views and 

comments are taken into account when finalising the plan.   

The process for resolving any dispute between the membership council and the board of directors is described in 

the constitution (paragraph 17). 

 



Page 30 of 108 
 

Membership Council composition and attendance report 2019/20 
 

Name and constituency Apr 19 July 19 Oct 19 Jan 20 Subgroup representation 

 
Emily Brothers (SWL) 

√ √ √ √ Chair, MDG 

 
Jane Bush (NCL) 

√ √ √ √ MDG, RNC 

 
Andrew Clark (Beds and Herts) 

√ √ √ √ External audit panel 

 
John Sloper (Beds and Herts) 

√ √  √ GDG 

 
Kimberley Jackson (SWL) 

√ √ √ √ 
GDG 
MDG 

 
Brenda Faulkner (patient) 

√ √   
GDG 
RNC 

 
Rob Jones (patient)  √  √ √ 

Chair, RNC 
Chair, GDG 
MDG 

 
Allan MacCarthy (SEL) 

√ √ √ √ 

Vice-chair  
GDG 
RNC 
Co-chair, PCF 

 
Ian Wilson (NWL) 

√ √ √ √  

 
Paul Murphy (NCL)  

√ √  √ 
Lead governor 
GDG 

 
Naga Subramanian (SEL) 

√ √ √ √ RNC 

 
Manzur Ahmed (NEL and Essex) 

 √ √ √  

 
John Russell (NEL and Essex) 

* * * √  

 
Richard Collins (patient) 
 

√ √  √ GDG, RNC 
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Brian Watkins (NWL) 
 

√ √    

 
Colin Carter (staff: network sites) 

√   √ MDG 

 
Amit Arora (staff: City Road) 

 √ √ √ RNC 

 
Remija Mponzi (staff: network sites) 

√  √ √  

 
Ella Preston (staff: City Road)  

√ √ √ √  

 
Matt Broom, Vision UK 

√ √ √ √  

 
Rakhia Ismail, London Borough of Islington 

     

 
Ian Humphreys, College of Optometrists 

* * * √  

 
David Shanks, University College London 

   √  

 
Tricia Smikle, Royal National Institute for the Blind 

√ √ √ √  

 

MDG Membership development group 

GDG Governance development group 

RNC Remuneration and nominations committee 

PCF Patient carer forum 

√ Present 

* Not in post 
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Elected governors usually hold their positions for three years. Nominated governors are proposed by their host 

organisation and hold the position until a new nomination is made. 

The council has one formal committee and two subgroups:  

The remuneration committee and nominations committee of the membership council met four times in 2019/20. 

This committee is established to ensure that the selection and appointment process for non-executive directors is 

robust, and to regularly review non-executive director remuneration levels to ensure an appropriate balance 

between value for money and attracting candidates of sufficient calibre. 

During 2019/20, the remuneration and nominations committee considered and recommended the reappointment 

of four non-executive directors, two for additional one year terms of office and two for second three-year terms of 

office. The committee also appointed two independent new non-executive directors to the board following a full 

shortlisting and interview process.   

The governance development group is established to propose and carry out initiatives that will improve the role 

of the membership council in the governance of the trust and the development of governors individually and 

collectively. In 2019/20 this group was particularly focused on looking at systems of voting and the membership 

council self-assessment that took place at the end of 2019.  

 

The membership development group is established to propose initiatives to develop the membership of the 

foundation trust, improve communications with them and to ensure that the trust and its members benefit from 

that relationship. This group discusses and develops the membership engagement strategy and how to make best 

use of a wide range of engagement mechanisms and methods.  

The register of interests of individual governors on the membership council is available to the public on request. 

Please write to: company secretary, Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, 162 City Road, London EC1V 

2PD, email: foundation@moorfields.nhs.uk or phone: 020 7566 2490. 

Our membership 

The trust has approximately 19,000 members, including over 2,000 staff members.  

Membership numbers in each public constituency reflect to some degree the size of the service provision in the 

area. For example, north west London has the greatest number of members because it includes two of our largest 

locations. The patient constituency is the largest constituency with members from across all services and 

geographical locations.  

Two successful membership weeks were held in May and October 2019 during which governors spent time at a 

number of different sites across the network gathering feedback from patients. Governors also visit sites 

throughout the year and feedback from these visits is provided so that learning and improvement can take place.  

All members are invited to our annual general meeting, which is also open to the public. Last year’s meeting on 10 

July 2019 attracted more than 300 attendees. 

The breakdown of our membership between constituencies is as follows:  
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Constituency Number of members 

Patient constituency 10,486 

Bedfordshire and Hertfordshire public constituency 407 

North central London public constituency 1,158 

North east London and Essex public constituency 1,625 

North west London public constituency 1,961 

South east London public constituency 401 

South west London public constituency 576 

Staff constituencies 2,465 

TOTAL 19,079 

 

Representing our membership 

Members are represented by elected patient, public and staff governors on the membership council which meets 

at least four times a year. Governors participate in a range of activities, such as membership development and 

engagement, conducting site visits, reviewing quality initiatives and attending recruitment panels for non-executive 

appointments.  

We draw our public membership from six geographic constituencies, set out in the table above. Any member of the 

public who lives in one of these areas and is aged 16 years or over can join as a public member. Any patient aged 

16 years or over can join the wider patient constituency. Eligible staff will be automatically registered as members, 

and are able to opt out. A member of the trust may cease their membership at any time via the contact below.  

Members who want to contact their representative governor or a member of the board should write to: company 

secretary, Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, 162 City Road, London, EC1V 2PD, email: 

foundation@moorfields.nhs.uk. This information is also available on the trust’s website: 

www.moorfields.nhs.uk/membership. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.moorfields.nhs.uk/membership
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Elections 

Elections were held in March 2020. The constituencies and outcomes are set out below.  

 

 

If a successfully elected governor is unable or ineligible to take up their role at the start of their term of office, the 

vacancy is offered to the next placed candidate.  

Full details of the composition of the membership council from 1 April 2020 and of election results are posted on 

our website at www.moorfields.nhs.uk/membership.  

All elections are held in accordance with the election rules set out in the constitution. This has been confirmed by 

the returning officer for the elections held during 2019/20. 

Compliance with the foundation trust code of governance 

Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Foundation Trust has applied the principles of the NHS foundation trust code of 

governance on a ‘comply or explain’ basis. The NHS foundation trust code of governance was revised in July 2014 

and is based on the principles of the UK corporate governance code issued in 2012. The Board of Directors support 

and agree with the principles set out in the NHS foundation trust code of governance. The following areas have 

been identified as non-compliant with the code, or are in the process of being implemented: 

 

Areas of non-compliance: 

The code refers to the appointment of executive directors that should be on fixed term arrangements and 

reviewed every five years. All executive directors have permanent contracts of employment which cannot be 

changed without agreement by both parties.  

 
Signed 

 
 
 
 

David Probert 
Chief executive 
25 June 2020 

Date Constituency Number of seats Successful candidate(s) 

 Patient 1 Roy Henderson 

Staff: network sites 1 Modupe Gisanrun 

http://www.moorfields.nhs.uk/membership
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Remuneration report 
The trust’s remuneration committee makes decisions in relation to directors’ pay in light of benchmarking 

information derived from published research on reward, such as the NHS Providers remuneration survey, 

and surveys of other trust’s remuneration for similar posts. In 2019/20 existing directors received an increase 

made on the basis of distance from benchmarks and/or performance. Performance is judged initially by the 

chief executive for the executive directors, and by the chairman for the chief executive, against objectives 

agreed for the year. The chief executive’s recommendations are subsequently discussed by the remuneration 

committee, which agrees on the necessary action. Details of the remuneration committee can be found on 

page 26. 

 

Remuneration is not split into different elements. The committee is always mindful of the national NHS pay 

uplift for staff and the system within which staff are remunerated, including restraints that apply to trusts 

and foundation trusts in special measures, when considering each individual. The final determination of the 

pay level for any individual is based on an assessment of performance. All contracts are open ended. As at 31 

March 2020, all trust executive directors are on a six month notice period. There is no termination payment 

built into the contract and there are no contractual provisions for early retirement beyond that required by 

the law. In certain circumstances an individual may benefit from the provisions of the NHS pension scheme. 

The trust does not provide any non-cash benefits within the remuneration package. 

 

Accounting policies for pensions and other retirement benefits are set out on page 36. Details of the board of 

directors’ remuneration can be found on page 35, and details of employee costs can be found in note 8 in the 

annual accounts. Information relating to off-payroll arrangements is included in the staff report. 

 

Acting on the recommendations of the Hutton review of fair pay and the reporting requirements of HM 

Treasury, the trust makes the following declarations [these declarations are subject to audit]: 

 

 The range of staff remuneration is £11,232 – £210,000 

 The median remuneration of staff employed at the trust during the 2019/20 financial year was 

£36,134 (2018/19: £35,530). The calculation is based on full-time equivalent staff of the reporting 

entity at the reporting period end date on an annualised basis. 

 The mid-point of the banded remuneration of the highest paid director of the trust for the sample 

period 2019/20 was £212,500 (2018/19: £200,000) – only those directors whose remuneration the 

trust is directly able to determine are included in this calculation. 

 The ratio of the two amounts was 5.88:1 in 2019/20 (2018/19: 5.63:1) – that is, the mid-point of the 

banded remuneration of the highest paid director of the trust was 5.81 times that of the median 

remuneration for all staff employed at the trust. 

 No payments for compensation for loss of office were made during 2019/20.  

 

As required by section 156(1) of the Health and Social Care Act 2012, I declare that the total out-of-pocket 

expenses paid to governors of the trust in 2019/20 was £2,061(2018/19: £4,456), and that total out-of-

pocket expenses paid in 2018/19 to the directors was £3,808 (2018/19 £3,565). 

 
 

David Probert 
Chief executive 
25 June 2020 
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 Salary entitlements of the board of directors [the following table is subject to audit] 

 

 

  

Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Foundation Trust - Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20

 Salary and pension entitlements of the board of directors

Remuneration

2019/20

Name and Title

Executive Salary

(bands of £5,000)

£'000s

Clinical / Research 

Salary

(bands of £5,000)

£'000s

Pension-Related 

Benefits

(bands of £2,500)

£'000s

Total Entitlement

(bands of £5,000)

£'000s

Mr D Probert - Chief Executive 210 - 215 - 65.0 - 67.5 275 - 280

Mr J Wilson - Chief Financial Officer 145 - 150 - - 145 - 150

Prof P Khaw - Research Director 30 - 35 200 - 205 - 235 -240

Ms T Luckett - Director of Nursing & Allied Health Professions 120 - 125 - 0.0 - 2.5 120 - 125

Mr J Quinn - Chief Operating Officer 125-130 - 20.0 - 22.5 150 - 155

Mr N Strouthidis - Medical Director 95 - 100 65 - 70 - 165 - 170

Ms T Green - Chairman 45 -50 - - 45 -50

Mr S Williams - Non-Executive Director 15 - 20 - - 15 - 20

Ms R Given-Wilson - Non-Executive Director 15 - 20 - - 15 - 20

Ms S Singha - Non-Executive Director 15 - 20 - - 15 - 20

Mr A Dick - Non-Executive Director 10 - 15 - - 10 - 15

Mr N Hardie - Non-Executive Director 15 - 20 - - 15 - 20

Mr D Hills - Non-Executive Director 15 - 20 - - 15 - 20

Mr V Bhalla - Non-Executive Director (start date 16.03.2020) 0-5 - - 0-5

Mr R Holmes - Non-Executive Director (start date 16.03.2020) 0-5 - - 0-5
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2018/19

Name and Title

Executive Salary

(bands of £5,000)

£'000s

Clinical / Research 

Salary

(bands of £5,000)

£'000s

Pension-Related 

Benefits

(bands of £2,500)

£'000s

Total Entitlement

(bands of £5,000)

£'000s

Mr D Probert - Chief Executive 200 - 205 - 60.0 - 62.5 260 - 265

Mr J Wilson - Chief Financial Officer (start date 01.11.2018) 60 - 65 - 25.0 - 27.5 85 - 90

Mr S Davies - Chief Financial Officer and Deputy CEO (01.04.2018-31.05.2018) 25 - 30 - - 25 - 30

Mrs J Greenshields - Acting Chief Financial Officer (01.06.2018-31.10.2018) 50 - 55 - 47.5 - 50.0 95 - 100

Prof P Khaw - Research Director 30 - 35 190 - 195 - 225 - 230

Ms T Luckett - Director of Nursing & Allied Health Professions 120 - 125 - 30.0 - 32.5 150 - 155

Mr J Quinn - Chief Operating Officer 125 - 130 - 47.5 - 50.0 175 - 180

Mr D Flanagan - Medical Director (01.04.2018-31.07.2018) 15 - 20 40 - 45 - 55 - 60

Mr N Strouthidis - Medical Director (start date 01.08.2018) 30 - 35 60 - 65 115.0 - 117.5 145 - 150

Ms T Green - Chairman 35 - 40 - - 35 - 40

Mr S Williams - Non-Executive Director 15 - 20 - - 15 - 20

Ms R Given-Wilson - Non-Executive Director 15 - 20 - - 15 - 20

Ms S Singha - Non-Executive Director 15 - 20 - - 15 - 20

Mr A Dick - Non-Executive Director 10 - 15 - - 10 - 15

Mr N Hardie - Non-Executive Director 15 - 20 - - 15 - 20

Mr D Hills - Non-Executive Director 15 - 20 - - 15 - 20

Pension-related benefits are intended to show the notional increase or decrease in the value of directors' pensions assuming the pension is drawn for 20 

years after retirement. It is calculated as 20 x annual pension increase  + lump sum increase, adjusted for inflation, less employees' pension contributions 

paid in the year.

Four members of the Board were paid more than the threshold of £150,000 per annum used in the Civil  Service for approval by the Chief Secretary of the 

Treasury, which equates to the Prime Minister's ministerial and parliamentary salary. We are mindful of our responsibility in ensuring value for money. 

Nevertheless we have an obligation to secure suitable individuals, and therefore the trust’s Remuneration Committee agreed the salaries in excess of the 

threshold following benchmarking and market testing.



Page 38 of 108 
 

 

Pension benefits of directors [the following table is subject to audit] 

 

 

Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Foundation Trust - Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019 /20

Pension benefits

Value of accrued 

pension at 31 

March 2019

Value of accrued 

pension at 31 

March 2020

Real increase in 

year in the value of 

accrued pension

(bands of £5,000)

£'000s

(bands of £5,000)

£'000s

(bands of £2,500)

£'000s

Mr D Probert - Chief Executive 50 - 55 55 - 60 2.5 - 5.0

Mr J Wilson - Chief Financial Officer 30 - 35 n/a n/a

Mrs J Greenshields - Acting Chief Financial Officer (01.06.2018-31.10.2018) 35 - 40 n/a n/a

Mr N Strouthidis - Medical Director 30 - 35 25 - 30 0

Ms T Luckett - Director of Nursing & Allied Health Professions 45 - 50 45 - 50 0.0 - 2.5

Mr J Quinn - Chief Operating Officer 40 - 45 40 - 45 0.0 - 2.5

Value of automatic 

lump sums at 31 

March 2019

Value of automatic 

lump sums at 31 

March 2020

Real increase in 

year in the value of 

automatic lump 

sums

(bands of £5,000)

£'000s

(bands of £5,000)

£'000s

(bands of £2,500)

£'000s

Mr D Probert - Chief Executive 110 - 115 110 - 115 0 - 2.5

Mr J Wilson  - Chief Financial Officer 85 - 90 n/a n/a

Mrs J Greenshields  - Chief Financial Officer 80 - 85 n/a n/a

Mr N Strouthidis- Medical Director 70 - 75 55 - 60 0

Ms T Luckett - Director of Nursing & Allied Health Professions 140 - 145 145 - 150 2.5 - 5.0

Mr J Quinn - Chief Operating Officer 90 - 95 90 - 95 0

Name and title

Name and title
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Cash equivalent 

transfer value at 31 

March 2019

Cash equivalent 

transfer value at 31 

March 2020

Real increase in 

cash equivalent 

transfer value in 

2019/20

(bands of £1,000)

£'000s

(bands of £1,000)

£'000s

(bands of £1,000)

£'000s

Mr D Probert - Chief Executive 752 - 753 842 - 843 41 - 42

Mr J. Wilson  - Chief Financial Officer 534 - 535 n/a n/a

Mrs J Greenshields  - Chief Financial Officer 638 - 639 n/a n/a

Mr N Strouthidis- Medical Director 508 - 509 427 - 428 0

Ms T Luckett - Director of Nursing & Allied Health Professions 1010 - 1011 1077 - 1078 25 - 26

Mr J Quinn - Chief Operating Officer 738 - 739 844 - 845 24 - 25

Prof P Khaw is not a member of the NHS Pension Scheme.

Non-executive directors do not receive pensionable remuneration.

During the year, the Government announced that public sector pension schemes will be required to provide indexation on the Guaranteed 

Minimum Pension element of the pension. NHS Pensions has updated the methodology used to calculate CETV values as at 31 March 2020. The 

impact of the change in methodology is included within the reported real increase in CETV for the year.

The value of trust contributions to the NHS Pension Scheme in 2019/20 in respect of executive directors was £79k (2018/19: £101k).

Name and title

A cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension scheme benefits accumulated by a member at a 

particular point in time. The benefits valued are the member's accumulated benefits and any contingent spouse's pension payable from the 

scheme. CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.

The real Increase in CETV reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer.  It takes account of the increase in accrued pension 

due to inflation, contributions paid by the employee (including the value of any benefits transferred from another pension scheme or 

arrangement) and uses common market valuation factors for the start and end of the year.



 

 

Page 40 of 108 
 

 

4.3 Staff report 

 

Staff sickness absence 

Average full time 
equivalent (FTE)  FTE days lost Average sick days per FTE 

0.85 
28673.6 (12 
months) 5.5 

 
 

Staffing WTE 2020 

Permanently employed 
Staff with a permanent (UK) employment contract 

directly with the entity 

Other 
Staff that do not have a permanent (UK) employment 

contract with the entity. 

2066 399 

 
The following figures show our staffing breakdown by staff group, age, gender, ethnicity, disability and sexual 
orientation, as at 31st March 2020.   
 

Workforce by staff group 

Add Prof Scientific and 
Technic - 272 

Additional Clinical Services - 313 Administrative and Clerical - 
740 

Allied Health 
Professionals - 
42 

Estates and Ancillary - 33 Healthcare Scientists - 31 Medical and Dental - 361 Nursing and 
Midwifery 
Registered - 
470 

Students – 5 

Workforce by ethnicity 

Asian - 529 Black - 401 Chinese - 48 Mixed - 93 

Not Stated - 245 Other BME - 115 White - 836  

 

Workforce by sexual orientation 

Bisexual - 18 Gay or Lesbian - 38 Heterosexual or Straight - 
1466 

Not Stated - 
935 

Unspecified – 30  

Workforce by disability status 

No - 2292 Yes - 48 Not Declared - 94 Prefer Not to 
Answer - 20 

Unspecified – 33                  

Workforce by gender 

Female - 1571 Male - 691   

    

 

Workforce by age 

-20 - 11 21-25 - 121 26-30 - 268 31-35 381 

36-40 - 344 41-45 - 340 46-50 - 320 51-55 - 308 

56-60 - 213 61-65 - 119 66-70 - 43 71+ - 19 

Note: All figures above are based on a snapshot as at 31 March 2020. 
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[Analysis of staff numbers and staff costs is subject to audit] 

Staff friends and family test (FFT) 
 
 2018/19 2019/20 

 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

% staff recommending 
Moorfields as a place 
for treatment 

97 96 90 96 
(92.95) 

  
93 

(94.8) 
  

95 

  
  

89 

No 
Survey 

% staff recommending 
Moorfields as a place 
to work 

77 72 70 67 
(57.96) 

  
58 

(54.7) 
  

55 

  
  

69 

No 
Survey 

% of staff who have 
heard of The 
Moorfields Way 

Removed from survey 

% of staff who believe 
The Moorfields Way is 
making a difference 

Removed from survey 

 
Data for the period April 2019 – March 2020  

Table 1 – Relevant union officials 

 Number of employees who were relevant union officials 
during the relevant period 

Full-time equivalent 
employee number 

  10.60 

 
  Table 2 – Percentage of time spent on facility time 

Percentage of time Number of employees 

0% 0 

1-50% 11 

 
  Table 3 – Percentage of pay bill spent on facility time 

  £ 

Provide the total cost of facility time 50,772 

Provide the total pay bill 487,440 

Provide the percentage of the total pay bill spent on facility 
time, calculated as: 10.42% 

(total cost of facility time ÷ total pay bill) x 100  

   
Table 4 – Paid trade union activities 

Time spent on paid trade union activities as a percentage of 
total paid facility time hours calculated as: 

100% 
(total hours spent on paid trade union activities by relevant 
union officials during the relevant period ÷ total paid facility 
time hours) x 100 
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Staff exit packages 2019/20 [this information is subject to audit] 

Exit package cost band 

Number of 
compulsory 
redundancies 

Number of 
other 
departures 
agreed 

Total number of 
exit packages by 
cost band 

<£10,000 - 1 1 

£10,001 – £25,000 - 2 2 

£25,001 – £50,000 - 1 1 

£50,001 - £100,000 - 1 1 

Total number of exit packages by type - 5 5 

Total resource cost £000s - 161 161 

 
 

   

Exit packages - non-compulsory departure payments 
Agreements 
Number 

Total Value of 
Agreements 
£000s 

Voluntary redundancies including early retirement contractual costs 1 85 

Mutually agreed resignations (MARS) contractual costs - - 

Early retirements in the efficiency of the service contractual costs - - 

Contractual payments in lieu of notice  3 70 

Exit payments following employment tribunals or court orders 1 6 

Non-contractual payments requiring HMT approval (special 
severence payments)* - - 

Total 5 161 

Of which: 
non-contractual payments requiring HMT approval made to 
individuals where the payment value was more than 12 months’ of 
their annual salary - - 

 

Staff exit packages 2018/19 

Exit package cost band 

Number of 
compulsory 
redundancies 

Number of 
other 
departures 
agreed 

Total number 
of exit 
packages by 
cost band 

<£10,000 - - - 

£10,001 – £25,000 2 1 3 

£25,001 – £50,000 2 - 2 

£50,001 - £100,000 2 - 2 

Total number of exit packages by type 6 1 7 

Total resource cost £000s 232 19 251 
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Exit packages - non-compulsory departure payments 
Agreements 
Number 

Total Value of 
Agreements 
£000s 

Voluntary redundancies including early retirement contractual costs - - 

Mutually agreed resignations (MARS) contractual costs - - 

Early retirements in the efficiency of the service contractual costs - - 

Contractual payments in lieu of notice  1 19 

Exit payments following employment tribunals or court orders - - 

Non-contractual payments requiring HMT approval (special severence 
payments)* - - 

Total 1 19 

Of which: 
non-contractual payments requiring HMT approval made to 
individuals where the payment value was more than 12 months’ of 
their annual salary - - 

 

Off payroll engagements  

For all off-payroll engagements as of 31 Mar 2020, for more than £245 per day and that last for 
longer than six months 

2019/20 

Number 

No. of existing engagements as of 31 Mar 2020  

Of which, the number that have existed:  

for less than one year at the time of reporting 5 

for between one and two years at the time of reporting 1 

for between 2 and 3 years at the time of reporting  

for between 3 and 4 years at the time of reporting  

for 4 or more years at the time of reporting  

  For all new off-payroll engagements, or those that reached six months in duration, between 01 
Apr 2019 and 31 Mar 2020, for more than £245 per day and that last for longer than six months 

2019/20 

Number 

Of which:  

No. assessed as caught by IR35  

No. assessed as not caught by IR35 5 

Number engaged directly (via PSC contracted to trust) and are on the trust's payroll  

Number of engagements reassessed for consistency/assurance purposes during the year  

Number of engagements that saw a change to IR35 status following the consistency review  

  For any off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or senior officials with significant 
financial responsibility, between 1 Apr 2019 and 31 Mar 2020 

2019/20 

Number 

Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or senior officers with significant 
financial responsibility, during the financial year. 

0 

Total no. of individuals on payroll and off-payroll that have been deemed “board members, 
and/or, senior officials with significant financial responsibility”, during the financial year. This figure 
must include both on payroll and off-payroll engagements. 

15 
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4.4 Statement of the chief executive’s responsibilities as the accounting officer of Moorfields Eye Hospital 
NHS Foundation Trust 
 

The National Health Service Act 2006 states that the chief executive is the accounting officer of the NHS 
foundation trust. The relevant responsibilities of the accounting officer, including their responsibility for the 
propriety and regularity of the public finances for which he is answerable and for the keeping of proper 
accounts, are set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum issued by NHS 
Improvement.  

NHS Improvement, in exercise of the powers conferred on Monitor by the NHS Act 2006, has given Accounts 
Directions which require Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS foundation trust to prepare for each financial year a 
statement of accounts in the form and on the basis required by those Directions. The accounts are prepared on 
an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS 
Foundation Trust and of its income and expenditure, other items of comprehensive income and cash flows for 
the financial year. 

In preparing the accounts and overseeing the use of public funds, the accounting officer is required to comply 
with the requirements of the Department of Health Group Accounting Manual and in particular to: 

 observe the accounts direction issued by NHS Improvement, including the relevant accounting and 
disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a consistent basis 

 make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis 

 state if applicable accounting standards as set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting 
Manual (and the Department of Health Group Accounting Manual) have been followed, and disclose 
and explain any material departures in the financial statements 

 ensure that the use of public funds complies with the relevant legislation, delegated authorities and 
guidance 

 prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis and disclose any material uncertainties over 
going concern 

The accounting officer is responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of the NHS foundation trust and to enable them to ensure that the 
accounts comply with requirements outlined in the above mentioned Act. The accounting officer is also 
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the NHS foundation trust and hence for taking reasonable steps to 
prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.  

As far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the foundation trust’s auditors are 
unaware, and I have taken all the steps that I ought to have taken to make myself aware of any relevant audit 
information and to establish that the entity’s auditors are aware of that information.  

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set out in the NHS 
Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum.  

 
 
 
David Probert 
Chief executive 
25 June 2020 
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4.5 Annual governance statement 
 
Scope of responsibility 
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal control that supports the 
achievement of the NHS foundation trust’s policies, aims and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds 
and departmental assets for which I am personally responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned 
to me. I am also responsible for ensuring that the NHS foundation trust is administered prudently and 
economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as 
set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum.  
 
The purpose of the system of internal control 
The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to eliminate all risk of 
failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute 
assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal control is based on an ongoing process designed to identify 
and prioritise the risks to the achievement of the policies, aims and objectives of Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS 
Foundation Trust, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, 
to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically. The system of internal control has been in place in 
Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Foundation Trust for the year ended 31 March 2020 and up to the date of approval 
of the annual report and accounts.  
 
Capacity to handle risk 

The board of directors is responsible for ensuring that a system of internal control is in place. As accounting 
officer I have overall accountability for risk management in the trust and chair the management executive, 
through which executive responsibility for risk management is exercised. The control of risk is embedded in the 
roles of executive directors through to the managerial staff within the organisation.  

The risk management strategy of the organisation is to maintain systematic and effective arrangements for 
identifying and managing risk to an acceptable level which fits within the trust’s risk appetite. The strategy 
provides a framework for managing risk across the organisation which is consistent with best practice and 
Department of Health guidance. The director of quality & safety has responsibility for the design, development 
and maintenance of operational risk systems, policies and processes. Divisional and directorate governance 
arrangements implement and maintain risk management processes, including the maintenance of risk registers. 
The day-to-day working of risk systems is therefore managed through the trust’s operational and departmental 
teams. The risk strategy provides a clear, systematic approach to the identification and assessment of risks to 
ensure that risk management is an integral part of clinical, managerial and financial processes across the 
organisation. The audit and risk committee, comprising non-executive directors, oversees the system of internal 
control and overall assurance processes associated with managing risk.  

The director of quality & safety chairs the risk and safety committee, which provides additional support to 
ensure that risk management processes are working effectively. The committee reviews themes and trends in 
risk and incident management and shares and encourages best practice across the trust’s network. As well as 
having individual and team responsibilities for policies, the risk and safety committee also supports divisions and 
directorates in ensuring policies are kept up to date and compliance is maintained.  

The board of directors routinely receives updates from board committees. The board receives assurance from 
the medical director and director of nursing and allied health professions, through comprehensive quality and 
safety reports, about the management of “never events”, serious incidents, complaints, claims, revalidation and 
incidents. The trust completed the action plan developed as a result of the 2017 well-led framework review 
which made a number of recommendations about risk management and corporate and clinical governance. A 
well-led review will take place in 2020. In 2019/20 the trust also received further assurance following internal 
audits of its incident and risk management systems.  
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Risk management training is provided through the induction programme for new staff and this is supplemented 
by local induction organised by managers. This includes the induction of junior doctors in relation to key 
policies, standards and practices in clinical areas. Staff are required to undertake and maintain mandatory 
training in a number of areas relating to risk management. Examples of this are safeguarding of children and 
adults, fire, general health and safety, infection control and risk and safety management. Different roles and 
responsibilities have associated training requirements; for example, those staff who work most closely with 
children are required to have a higher level of safeguarding, whilst all staff are required to have a minimum of 
level one training.  

The trust holds regular clinical governance events in order to share learning across the organisation.  

The risk and control framework  

The trust has a risk management strategy and policy that has been updated to ensure that it remains relevant 
and fit for purpose. Levels of accountability and responsibility for risk are set out within this document. The trust 
has risk management systems in place for identifying, evaluating, monitoring, controlling and recording risk. The 
management of risk is embedded in management roles at all staff levels, and primary control for risk 
management takes place through divisions, departments and frontline teams. All risk registers have been 
migrated onto our risk management module of our Safeguard system which enables a more robust and 
consistent system of reviewing risks.  

The principles of risk management are core to the organisation’s business. The first stage of the risk process is 
the systematic identification of risks via structured risk assessments. Risks that are identified are documented 
on risk registers. These risks are analysed in order to determine their relative importance using a risk scoring 
matrix. Where relevant, risks are managed and mitigated locally. However where they cannot be resolved, 
systems exist, and are described in the policy, to progressively escalate risks to higher level risk registers. 
Achieving control of the higher scoring risks is given priority over lower scoring risks. Key Performance Indicators 
(KPIs) related to risks are identified to improve board assurance and compliment risk management process.  

Incident reporting is openly encouraged through the trust’s policies on incident reporting, being open and duty 
of candour, and staff training. The trust has an open culture which is demonstrated through staff survey results 
and reporting rates which increase year-on-year. 

Divisional operational and quality dashboards are available for monitoring many types of performance activity, 
both clinical and non-clinical. The Board Assurance Framework (BAF) has been developed using the trust’s 
corporate risk register and is linked to monitoring the trust’s annual corporate priorities. The BAF details the 
principal strategic risks to the organisation and how those risks are being mitigated. The BAF and corporate risk 
register were reviewed during the year by the management executive, audit and risk committee and the board 
of directors.  

The organisation continues to have a low appetite for risk in relation to patient safety and aims to minimise 
avoidable risk – this approach is built into all our risks systems although it recognises that healthcare is not 
without risk. The trust has a higher risk appetite in respect of developing its commercial divisions of which it has 
two, Moorfields Private and Moorfields United Arab Emirates. 

The trust has a range of quality governance systems including a quality governance framework in place which 
have been proactively developed over the previous three years and include systems for collecting, assessing and 
presenting quality and safety information from operational to trust board level. Oversight and scrutiny of these 
governance arrangements is provided by the quality and safety committee which is a committee of the board.  

A programme of annual health and safety assessments is in place led by the risk and safety department. In areas 
where this process has matured sufficiently, self-assessments take place. These reviews are complemented by a 
programme of patient safety data reviews which consider data and information about patient safety including 
trends and the need for any remedial action. In addition executive walkabouts including the quality and safety 
and other corporate teams as well as clinical representatives, visit the trust’s network of sites to review data 
and information about frontline activity as well as allowing frontline staff to raise concerns or share learning. 
These reviews focus on ensuring that quality and safety standards are in place and where there are gaps 
improvement actions are introduced. These walkabouts also provide a corporate level view of the trust’s 



 

 

Page 47 of 108 
 

compliance with the CQC’s requirements. A programme of annual health and safety assessments is also in place 
led by the risk and safety department. In addition, a process of detailed divisional self-assessments against the 
CQC standards is under way to assess performance and also to understand progress with the quality strategy.   

The trust is registered and is fully compliant with the Care Quality Commission’s (CQC) registration 
requirements. Systems exist to ensure compliance with the CQC’s fundamental standards.  

Quality and safety performance is monitored through a range of quality reports that are provided to the trust 
management committee, the quality and safety committee and trust board. These reports are structured 
around the three Darzi themes of patient experience, patient safety and clinical effectiveness and the CQC 
domains. The organisation also uses various dashboards to review both operational performance as well as 
quality indicators. These dashboards enable divisions and services to scrutinise data in a timely manner to drive 
improvements and share learning across the network.  

The board assurance framework includes the high level risks to the organisation. These are rated dependent on 
the level and potential impact of risk with red being the highest. A summary is included below. 

Six risks were rated as red: 

 If the trust is unable to appropriately manage the impact of the Covid-19 virus there will be an impact in 
a number of areas including significant harm to staff and patients, significant financial risk both in the 
short and long term, reputational risk, workforce impact and system working risk. 

 If the key assumptions behind Project Oriel are not achieved then there may be insufficient capital and 
resources available leading to a failure to be able to deliver a new facility that is fit for purpose and 
improves the patient and staff experience. 

 If the growth in commercial activity is not to plan then there will not be sufficient revenue generated 
leading to pressure on trust finances elsewhere and a lack of ability to effectively compete in the market 
and to continue to provide high quality NHS services to patients, as well having an impact on the 
assumptions for Oriel. 

 If a ‘no deal’ Brexit goes ahead then there will be a significant impact in a number of areas, leading to a 
reduction in the ability to attract the best talent to the trust from a global market, risk to the continued 
availability of drugs and supplies from European Union based companies and our ability to attracting 
research funding. 

 If the trust cannot attract sufficient research funding to maintain its position then its capacity to 
conduct appropriate research will diminish leading to an inability to compete effectively for funding and 
a significant risk to the trust brand and reputation in the field. 

 If there is a successful cyber-attack then the trust may suffer from a loss of service and/or corruption of 
data leading to poor patient care or experience, loss of income and damage to reputation.  
 

A further five risks on the board assurance framework are rated as amber. : 
 

 If there is continued or increased turbulence in the commissioning landscape then this will lead to 
increasing pressure on services, more notices of termination and tendering of services leading to loss of 
contracts and income, a significant impact on staff and their ability to deliver services at a high standard, 
and confusion and lack of continuity for patients, affecting their care. 

 If the trust does not have a robust workforce plan in place then there will be staff shortages and skill 
gaps leading to insufficient numbers of staff available in key areas and a subsequent impact on the 
quality of patient care, pressure on staff and a decrease in morale which will affect both the staff and 
patient experience. 

 If engagement with staff is ineffective and inconsistent then they will have a lack of confidence in the 
organisation's approach to workforce issues leading to poor staff retention and morale, deterioration in 
the quality of patient care and a risk to the trust's reputation as an employer of choice. 

 If the trust fails to identify or address poor clinical practice and learn the lessons then there could be 
multiple serious incidents leading to significant patient harm, deterioration in patient outcomes and 
experience, regulatory intervention or damage to reputation. 
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 If the trust fails to achieve cost improvement targets then this will put pressure on budgets leading to 
deteriorating staff morale and a subsequent impact on patient care, as well as increased scrutiny from 
regulators and commissioners. 

The board has oversight of the board assurance framework and receives an update twice a year. This is 
supported by reviews by the relevant board committee, for example quality risks are reviewed by the quality 
and safety committee. The level of board assurance in relation to individual risks forms part of the corporate 
risk register. Day-to-day management of corporate risks is the responsibility of directors with review by the 
management executive and trust management committee. Each risk has a linked mitigation plan led by the 
respective director, and the corporate risk register contains an assessment of how mitigations aim to reduce 
overall risk scores.  

Moorfields has excellent engagement with its host commissioner, NHS Islington Clinical Commissioning Group. 
The commissioner-led, joint clinical quality review meeting provides a regular forum to raise risks and issues and 
the corporate risk register is also reviewed at these meetings with a focus on quality.  

The Moorfields board continues to be stable with all executive directors having been in place for a full year. The 
chairman and six of the non-executive directors have been in place for the full year and two new non-executive 
directors were appointed in March 2020. The trust published on its website an up-to-date register of interests 
for decision-making staff (as designed by the trust with reference to the guidance) within the past twelve 
months as required by the Managing Conflicts of Interest in the NHS guidance.  

As an employer with staff entitled to membership of the NHS pension scheme, control measures are in place to 
ensure compliance with all employer obligations contained within the scheme. This includes ensuring that 
deductions from salary, employer’s contributions and payments into the scheme are in accordance with the 
Scheme rules, and that member Pension Scheme records are accurately updated in accordance with the 
timescales detailed in the Regulations. 

Control measures are in place to ensure compliance with all the organisation’s obligations under equality, 
diversity and human rights legislation.  

The trust has undertaken risk assessments and has a sustainable development management plan in place which 
takes account of UK Climate Projections 2018 (UKCP18). The trust ensures that its obligations under the Climate 
Change Act and the Adaptation Reporting requirements are complied with. 
 
The board has received updates on a regular basis, with a nominated executive level Senior Responsible Officer, 
and an identified operation lead.  
 
The foundation trust is fully compliant with the registration requirements of the Care Quality Commission. The 
trust received an overall rating of ‘Good’ in its last CQC inspection in 2018/19. 

Review of economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the use of resources  

The trust’s annual plan, which contains the financial plan, is approved by the board and submitted to NHS 
Improvement. The board receives monthly financial reports. The trust’s resources are managed via financial 
controls set out in the standing financial instructions, and on a day-to-day basis local financial and performance 
controls are in place in divisions and departments. Financial governance arrangements are supported by 
internal and external audit to ensure economic, efficient and effective use of resources. 

Information governance (IG) 

Information Governance at Moorfields is overseen by the Information Governance Committee which reports to 
the Quality and Safety Committee. The Information Governance Committee is chaired by the Senior Information 
Risk Owner (SIRO) who is the Director of Quality and Safety; membership includes the Caldicott Guardian, 
Deputy Caldicott Guardian, Chief Information Officer and Head of Information Governance who is also the 
Trust’s Data Protection Officer. 
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The information governance agenda is driven by key standards set down in the NHS Operating Framework and 
measured by compliance with the Data Security and Protection Toolkit (DSPT - which replaced the former 
Information Governance Toolkit from April 2018).  

The Trust is required to process information (personal and corporate) in line with the standards set out in 
statute, regulation and guidance. Information Governance at Moorfields includes strategy, policy and 
procedures that enable staff to handle information in line with these requirements. Annual data security 
awareness training is mandatory for all staff.  In 2019/20 (as in previous years) Moorfields achieved more than 
95% of staff completing their training, a leading nation national performance.   

The DSPT annual submission is used to demonstrate compliance with IG standards and the national Data 
Security Standards. For 2019/20 the Trust submitted a standards met submission for the toolkit and a 
satisfactory internal audit report was received.   

Workforce 

The board receives regular reports on staffing issues, such as the guardian of safe working report and quarterly 
workforce metrics. Safer staffing levels are also reported through the monthly integrated performance report. 
The board has a workforce strategy that includes short, medium and long term objectives.  

Data quality and governance 
The trust has a comprehensive data quality assurance framework which reviews organisational data capture 
processes and identifies any issues. The data covered includes the trust’s key indicators and those that are 
included in the quality report. The framework works as an integral part of the Trusts data quality policy and 
strategy and is underpinned by an audit function for ensuring compliance with national data completeness 
targets, an area in which the trust performs extremely well. Process audits, which utilise ISO9000 methodology, 
are also undertaken to ensure the compliance with standard operating procedures for the collection, collation 
and submission of data and these audits are currently being expanded across the trust. Similar audits are also 
undertaken by a dedicated RTT team to specifically ensure the accuracy of patient waiting times and reduce 
risks to patients. All of this activity is overseen by the Information Management and Data Quality Group which 
reports to the Information Governance Committee. 

Review of effectiveness 

As accounting officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal control. My 
review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of the internal auditors, 
clinical audit and the executive managers and clinical leads within the NHS foundation trust who have 
responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control framework. I have drawn on 
performance information available to me. My review is also informed by comments made by the external 
auditors in their management letter and other reports. I have been advised on the implications of the result of 
my review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control by the board, the audit and risk committee and 
the quality and safety committee and a plan to address weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the 
system is in place. 

My review of the effectiveness of the systems of internal controls has been informed by the outputs and the 
outcomes of the systems themselves and also by the executive directors and managers within the organisation. 
Internal audit provides me with an opinion about the effectiveness of the assurance framework and the internal 
audit plan. Work undertaken by internal audit is reviewed by the audit and risk committee. 

The process that has been applied in maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal 
controls has involved: 

 the trust board’s work programme which includes ensuring that the key compliance and regulatory 
requirements are reported and reviewed, and that the key risks are considered which are collated 
through the board assurance framework  
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 the audit and risk committee providing the board with independent review of financial controls. There 
has been a programme of internal audit to review the systems, controls and processes and the 
outcomes of these reports have been reviewed by the audit and risk committee.  

 review of progress in meeting the Care Quality Commission’s standards by divisional teams and the 
trust management committee 

 review of serious untoward and other incidents by the board and the quality and safety committee 

The overall opinion from the Head of Internal Audit for the period 1 April 2019 – 31 March 2020 is that 
significant assurance with minor improvements required can be given on the overall adequacy and effectiveness 
of the organisation’s framework of governance, risk management and control. 

This opinion covers the period 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020 inclusive, and is based on the ten audits that were 
completed in this period. 
 

The design and operation of the Assurance Framework and associated processes 

The Trust’s Assurance Framework does reflect the Trust’s key objectives and risks and is regularly reviewed by 
the Board. The Audit and Risk Committee and executive reviews the Assurance Framework on a quarterly basis 
and the Audit and Risk Committee provide reviews as to whether the Trust’s risk management procedures are 
operating effectively. 
 

The range of individual opinions arising from risk-based audit assignments, contained within our risk-based 

plan that have been reported throughout the year 

 
Conclusion 

The board has a wide range of governance assurance systems in place. These include an effective incident 
reporting system and systems for the identification and control of risk through the board assurance framework. 
Internal and external audit reviews, audits and inspections and walkabouts provide sufficient evidence that no 
significant internal control issues have been identified during 2019/20 and that control systems are fit for 
purpose with potential areas for improvement set out.    

 

 

 

 
David Probert 
Chief executive 
25 June 2020 
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Independent auditor’s report to the Council of 
Governors of Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Foundation 
Trust 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinion 

Our opinion on the financial statements is unmodified 
We have audited the financial statements of Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Foundation Trust (the ‘Trust’) and its 

subsidiaries (the ‘group’) for the year ended 31 March 2020 which comprise the Statement of Comprehensive 

Income, the Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in Equity, the Statement of Cash Flows 

and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial 

reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union, and as interpreted and adapted by the 

Accounts Directions issued under the National Service Act 2006, the NHS foundation trust annual reporting 

manual 2019/20 and the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2019 to 2020. 

In our opinion the financial statements:  

 give a true and fair view of the financial position of the group and of the Trust 
as at 31 March 2020 and of the group’s expenditure and income and the Trust’s 
expenditure and income for the year then ended;  

 have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union, as interpreted 
and adapted by the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting 
Manual 2019 to 2020; and  

 have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the National 
Health Service Act 2006. 

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable 
law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the 
audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the group and the Trust in 
accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, 
including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 

The impact of macro-economic uncertainties on our audit  
Our audit of the financial statements requires us to obtain an understanding of all relevant uncertainties, 
including those arising as a consequence of the effects of macro-economic uncertainties such as Covid-19 and 
Brexit. All audits assess and challenge the reasonableness of estimates made by the Accounting Officer and the 
related disclosures and the appropriateness of the going concern basis of preparation of the financial 
statements. All of these depend on assessments of the future economic environment and the Trust’s future 
operational arrangements. 

Covid-19 and Brexit are amongst the most significant economic events currently faced by the UK, and at the 
date of this report their effects are subject to unprecedented levels of uncertainty, with the full range of 
possible outcomes and their impacts unknown. We applied a standardised firm-wide approach in response to 
these uncertainties when assessing the Trust’s future operational arrangements. However, no audit should be 
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expected to predict the unknowable factors or all possible future implications for an entity associated with 
these particular events. 

 

Conclusions relating to going concern 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to 
report to you where: 

 the Accounting Officer’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial 
statements is not appropriate; or 

 the Accounting Officer has not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that 
may cast significant doubt about the group’s or the Trust’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern 
basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are 
authorised for issue. 

In our evaluation of the Accounting Officer’ conclusions, and in accordance with the expectation set out within 
the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2019 to 2020 that the Trust’s financial 
statements shall be prepared on a going concern basis, we considered the risks associated with the group and 
Trust’s operating activities, including effects arising from macro-economic uncertainties such as Covid-19 and 
Brexit. We analysed how those risks might affect the Trust’s financial resources or ability to continue operations 
over the period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue. 
In accordance with the above, we have nothing to report in these respects.  
However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may result in outcomes 
that are inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they were made, the absence of 
reference to a material uncertainty in this auditor's report is not a guarantee that the Trust will continue in 
operation. 

 

 

Overview of our audit approach 
Financial statements audit 

 Overall materiality: £4,500,000 which represents 1.79% of 
the group’s gross operating costs (consisting of operating 
expenses and finance expenses); 

 Key audit matters were identified as:  

 Valuation of land and buildings 

 Covid-19 

 Existence and occurrence of patient care revenues 
(non-block) 

 Existence and occurrence of private patient revenues 

 Existence and occurrence of other operating revenues 

 We have tested all of the Trust’s material income streams 
covering over 99% of the Trust’s income, 99% of the 
Trust’s expenditure and the Trust’s material assets and 
liabilities; 

 The Trust has 1 wholly owned subsidiary, Moorfields Eye 
Hospital Ventures LLP, which in turn owns a 49% share in 
a Joint Venture, Moorfields Eye Hospital Abu Dhabi. The 
subsidiary is treated as a non-significant component for 
audit purposes.  



 

 

Page 53 of 108 
 

Conclusion on the Trust’s arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources 

 We did not identify any significant risks in respect of the 
Trust’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources (see Report on other 
legal and regulatory requirements section).  

Key audit matters 
The graph below depicts the financial statement audit risks identified and their relative significance based on 
the extent of the financial statement impact and the extent of management judgement. 

 

 

 

  

 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of 
the financial statements of the current year and include the most significant assessed risks of material 
misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) that we identified. These matters included those that had the 
greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of 
the engagement team. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as 
a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

Key Audit Matter – Trust How the matter was addressed in the audit – Group 

Risk 1 – Valuation of land and buildings 

The Trust re-values its land and buildings annually to ensure 

that the current value is not materially different from fair 

value at the year-end date. A full valuation was undertaken 

in 2019/20. The valuation represents a significant estimate 

by management in the financial statements which is 

sensitive to changes in assumptions and market conditions. 

Management engage the services of a qualified valuer, who 

is a regulated Member of the Royal Institute of Chartered 

Surveyors (RICS), to estimate the current value of its land 

and buildings. In valuing the Trust’s estate, management 

have made the assumption that the main hospital site at City 

Our audit work included, but was not restricted to:  

 evaluating management's processes and assumptions 

for the calculation of the estimate, the instructions 

issued to the valuation experts and the scope of their 

work; 

 evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity 

of the valuation expert; 

 discussing with the valuer the basis on which the 

valuations were carried out and challenging the key 

assumptions applied; 

 testing the information used by the valuer to ensure it is 

complete and consistent with our understanding; and 

Other 
operating 
revenues 

Management 
override Patient care 

revenues (non-
block) 

Valuation of 
land and 
buildings 

 Covid-19 

Private Patient 
Revenues 

High 

 

Potential 
financial 

statement 
impact 

High Low Extent of management judgement 
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Key Audit Matter – Trust How the matter was addressed in the audit – Group 

Road, if needed to be replaced, would be rebuilt to modern 

conditions on an alternative site.  

We therefore identified the valuation of land and buildings, 

in particular revaluations of the City Road hospital site, as a 

significant risk, which was one of the most significant 

assessed risks of material misstatement. 

 

 

 testing revaluations made during the year to ensure 

they have been input correctly into the Trust's asset 

register. 

The group’s accounting policy on valuation of land and 
buildings is shown in note 1.9 to the financial statements 
and related disclosures are included in notes 15 and 17. 

Key observations 

We draw attention to note 17 of the financial statements, 
which describes the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on 
the valuation of land and buildings as at 31 March 2020.  

In applying the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) 
Valuation Global Standards 2020 ('Red Book'), the valuer has 
declared a 'material valuation uncertainty' in the valuation 
report. This is on the basis of uncertainties in markets 
caused by COVID-19. The values in the report have been 
used to inform the measurement of land and buildings at 
valuation in the financial statements.  

The Trust has disclosed the estimation uncertainty related to 
the year-end valuations of land and buildings in the note to 
the financial statements and is planning to keep the 
valuation of the property under frequent review in 2020/21.  
Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

We obtained sufficient audit assurance to conclude that: 

 the basis of the valuation of land and buildings 
was appropriate, and  

 the assumptions and processes used by 
management in determining the estimate of 
valuation of property were reasonable; 

 the valuation of land and buildings disclosed in 
the financial statements is reasonable. 

 

Risk 2 – Covid-19 

The outbreak of the Covid-19 pandemic has had a significant 

impact on the normal operations of the Trust. Remote 

working arrangements may impact on the quality and timing 

of the production of the financial statements, and the 

evidence we can obtain through physical observation. 

Volatility of financial and property markets will increase the 

uncertainty of assumptions applied by management to asset 

valuation and receivable recovery estimates, and the 

reliability of evidence we can obtain to corroborate 

management estimates. 

Financial uncertainty will require management to reconsider 

financial forecasts supporting their going concern 

assessment and whether material uncertainties have arisen. 

We therefore identified Covid-19 as a significant risk, which 

was one of the most significant assessed risks of material 

misstatement. 

Our audit work included, but was not restricted to:  

 liaising with other audit suppliers, regulators and 

government departments to co-ordinate practical cross 

sector responses to issues as and when they arise; 

 evaluating the adequacy of the disclosures in the 

financial statements that arose in light of the Covid-19 

pandemic; 

 evaluating whether sufficient audit evidence can be 

obtained in the absence of physical verification of assets 

through remote technology; 

 evaluating whether sufficient audit evidence can be 

obtained to corroborate significant management 

estimates such as asset valuations and recovery of 

receivable balances; and 

 evaluating management’s assumptions that underpin 

the revised financial forecasts and the impact on 

management’s going concern assessment. 

The Trust does not have a specific accounting policy on 
Covid-19, but has made disclosures in the financial 
statements. 

Key observations 

We have obtained sufficient and appropriate assurance to 

conclude that the disclosures made in the financial 

statements are appropriate and that management’s revised 

going concern assessment is sufficient. 

Despite the challenges posed by remote working, evidence 

provided by management, we consider that evidence 
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Key Audit Matter – Trust How the matter was addressed in the audit – Group 

provided by management is sufficient to corroborate 

significant estimates. 

 

Risk 3 - Patient care revenues (non-block) 

Trusts are facing significant external pressure to restrain 

budget overspends and meet externally set financial targets, 

coupled with increasing patient demand and cost pressures. 

In this environment, we have considered the rebuttable 

presumed risk under ISA (UK) 240  that revenue may be 

misstated due to the improper recognition of revenue. We 

did not deem it appropriate to rebut this presumed risk for 

patient care revenues that are recognised outside of block 

contracts given that the recognition of such revenue is 

subject to higher degrees of estimation uncertainty. 

We therefore identified patient care revenues (non-block) as 

a significant risk, which was one of the most significant 

assessed risks of material misstatement. 

Our audit work included, but was not restricted to:  

 agreeing, on a sample basis, income from contract 

variations and year end receivables to signed contract 

variations, invoices or other supporting evidence such as 

correspondence from the Trust’s commissioners; and 

 using the DHSC mismatch report to have investigate 

unmatched revenue and receivable balances over the 

NAO £0.3m threshold, corroborating the unmatched 

balances used by the Trust to supporting evidence. 

The group’s accounting policy relating to patient care 

revenues is included in note 1.4 to the financial statements 

and related disclosures are included in note 3.  

Key observations 

We obtained sufficient audit assurance to conclude that 

revenue recognised with respect to contract variations and 

non-contracted activity has been recognised in accordance 

with the accounting policy and that revenue recognised from 

these streams is not materially misstated. 

Risk 4 – Private patient revenues 

Trusts are facing significant external pressure to restrain 

budget overspends and meet externally set financial targets, 

coupled with increasing patient demand and cost pressures. 

In this environment, we have considered the rebuttable 

presumed risk under ISA (UK) 240 that revenue may be 

misstated due to the improper recognition of revenue. We 

did not deem it appropriate to rebut this presumed risk for 

private patient revenues given that the Trust has a large and 

complex commercial operation that operates to generate 

revenues for private patients, both in the UK and in the 

United Arab Emirates. 

We therefore identified patient care revenues (non-block) as 

a significant risk, which was one of the most significant 

assessed risks of material misstatement. 

Our audit work included, but was not restricted to:  

 Moorfields UK – agreeing, on a sample basis, income 

and year end receivables from private patients to 

invoices and cash payment or other supporting 

evidence; 

 Moorfields Dubai - carrying out a predictive analytical 

review over private patient revenues, covering 

significant private revenues, and testing the occurrence 

and accuracy of revenues on sample basis; 

The group’s accounting policy on private patient revenues is 

included in note 1.4 to the financial statements and related 

disclosures are included in note 3.2.  

Key observations 

We obtained sufficient audit assurance to conclude that 

revenue recognised with respect to private patients has 

been recognised in accordance with the accounting policy 

and that revenue recognised from private patients is not 

materially misstated. 

Risk 5 – Other operating revenues  

Trusts are facing significant external pressure to restrain 

budget overspends and meet externally set financial targets, 

coupled with increasing patient demand and cost pressures. 

In this environment, we have considered the rebuttable 

presumed risk under ISA (UK) 240 that revenue may be 

misstated due to the improper recognition of revenue. We 

did not deem it appropriate to rebut this presumed risk for 

other operating revenues, including Provider Sustainability 

Funding (‘PSF’) given that  

We therefore identified other operating revenues as a 

significant risk, which was one of the most significant 

assessed risks of material misstatement 

Our audit work included, but was not restricted to:  

 agreeing, on a sample basis, income and year end 

receivables from other operating revenue to invoices 

and cash payment or other supporting evidence; 

 agreeing income recognised in Q1 – Q3 with respect to 

the provider sustainability fund (‘PSF’) to NHS 

Improvement notifications and obtaining supporting 

evidence that confirms the Trust has met NHS 

Improvement requirements for recognising Q4 income. 

Key observations 

The group’s accounting policy relating to other operating 

revenues is included in note 1.4 and 1.5 to the financial 

statements and related disclosures are included in note 4. 



 

 

Page 56 of 108 
 

Key Audit Matter – Trust How the matter was addressed in the audit – Group 

We obtained sufficient audit assurance to conclude that 

revenue recognised with respect to other operating 

revenues, including the provider sustainability fund, has 

been recognised in accordance with the accounting policy 

and that other operating revenues are not materially 

misstated. 

The Trust met the agreed control total and as such was able 

to recognise the revenue as notified by NHS Improvement. 

 

 

Our application of materiality 
We define materiality as the magnitude of misstatement in the financial statements that makes it probable that 
the economic decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable person would be changed or influenced. We use 
materiality in determining the nature, timing and extent of our audit work and in evaluating the results of that 
work. 

Materiality was determined as follows: 

Materiality Measure Group Trust 

Financial statements as a 
whole 

£4,500,000 which is 1.79% of the group’s 
gross operating costs. This benchmark is 
considered the most appropriate because we 
consider users of the financial statements to 
be most interested in how the group has 
expended its revenue and other funding. 

 

£4,450,000 which is 1.77% of the Trust’s 
gross operating costs. This benchmark is 
considered the most appropriate because we 
consider users of the financial statements to 
be most interested in how the Trust has 
expended its revenue and other funding. 

 

Performance materiality 
used to drive the extent of 
our testing 

70% of financial statement materiality 70% of financial statement materiality 

Specific materiality We did not identify any areas where a lower 
specific materiality was appropriate. 

We did not identify any areas where a lower 
specific materiality was appropriate. 

Communication of 
misstatements to the Audit 
and Risk Committee 

£250,000 and misstatements below that 
threshold that, in our view, warrant reporting 
on qualitative grounds. 

£225,000 and misstatements below that 
threshold that, in our view, warrant reporting 
on qualitative grounds. 

 

The graph below illustrates how performance materiality interacts with our overall materiality and the tolerance for potential 

uncorrected misstatements. 

Overall materiality – Group Overall materiality – Trust  

  

 

An overview of the scope of our audit 
Our audit approach was a risk-based approach founded on a thorough understanding of the group’s business, its 
environment and risk profile and in particular included:  

30% 

70% 

30% 

70% 

Tolerance for potential uncorrected mis-statements Performance materiality
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 evaluation of identified components, Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Foundation Trust and Moorfields Eye 
Hospital Ventures LLP, to assess the significance of each component and to determine the planned audit 
response based on a measure of materiality. Significance was determined through reference to component 
gross operating costs as a percentage of the group’s gross operating costs;  

 the approach for the audit of the Trust was a full scope statutory audit, obtaining supporting evidence, on a 
sample basis, for:  

 all of the Trust’s material income streams, covering over 99% of the Trust’s income;  

 operating expenses, covering over 99% of the Trust’s expenditure; and 

 plant, property and equipment and the Trust’s other material assets and liabilities. 

 an evaluation of the Trust’s internal control environment including relevant IT systems and controls over key 
financial systems;  

 Moorfields Eye Hospital Ventures LLP, the Trust’s wholly owned subsidiary, was considered a non-significant 
component. Assurance was gained over the transactions and balances of Moorfields Eye Hospital Ventures 
LLP through analytical procedures. 

Other information 
The Accounting Officer is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the Annual Report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the 
extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or 
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such 
material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a 
material misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based 
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the other information, 
we are required to report that fact.  

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

In this context, we also have nothing to report in regard to our responsibility to specifically address the 
following items in the other information and to report as uncorrected material misstatements of the other 
information where we conclude that those items meet the following conditions: 

 Fair, balanced and understandable set out on page 23 in accordance with provision C.1.1 of the NHS 
Foundation Trust Code of Governance – the statement given by the directors that they consider the Annual 
Report and financial statements taken as a whole is fair, balanced and understandable and provides the 
information necessary for patients, regulators and other stakeholders to assess the group and Trust’s 
performance, business model and strategy, is materially inconsistent with our knowledge of the Trust 
obtained in the audit; or 

 Audit and Risk committee reporting set out on page 25 in accordance with provision C.3.9 of the NHS 
Foundation Trust Code of Governance 

Other information we are required to report on by exception under the Code of Audit 
Practice 
Under the Code of Audit Practice published by the National Audit Office on behalf of the Comptroller and 
Auditor General (the Code of Audit Practice) we are required to consider whether the Annual Governance 
Statement1 does not meet the disclosure requirements set out in the NHS foundation trust annual reporting 
manual 2019/20 or is misleading or inconsistent with the information of which we are aware from our audit.. 
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We are not required to consider whether the Annual Governance Statement addresses all risks and controls or 
that risks are satisfactorily addressed by internal controls.  

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

 

Our opinion on other matters required by the Code of Audit Practice 
is unmodified 
In our opinion: 

 the parts of the Remuneration Report and the Staff Report to be audited have been 
properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, as 
interpreted and adapted by the NHS foundation trust annual reporting manual 
2019/20 and the requirements of the National Health Service Act 2006; and 

 based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit of the financial statements 
and our knowledge of the Trust gained through our work in relation to the Trust’s 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources, the other information published together with the financial statements in 
the Annual Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are 
prepared is consistent with the financial statements. 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report to you if: 

 we issue a report in the public interest under Schedule 10 (3) of the National Health Service Act 2006 in the 
course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or 

 we refer a matter to the regulator under Schedule 10 (6) of the National Health Service Act 2006 because we 
have reason to believe that the Trust, or a director or officer of the Trust, is about to make, or has made, a 
decision which involves or would involve the incurring of expenditure that was unlawful, or is about to take, 
or has begun to take a course of action which, if followed to its conclusion, would be unlawful and likely to 
cause a loss or deficiency. 

We have nothing to report in respect of the above matters. 

Responsibilities of the Accounting Officer and Those Charged with Governance for the 
financial statements 
As explained more fully in the Statement of the Chief Executive’s responsibilities as the accounting officer set 
out on page 44, the Chief Executive, as Accounting Officer, is responsible for the preparation of the financial 
statements in the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Directions included in the NHS foundation trust 
annual reporting manual 2019/20, for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal 
control as the Accounting Officer determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Accounting Officer is responsible for assessing the group’s and the 
Trust’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Accounting Officer has been informed by the relevant 
national body of the intention to dissolve the Trust and the group without the transfer of the Trust’s services to 
another public sector entity. 

The Audit and Risk Committee is Those Charged with Governance. Those charged with governance are 
responsible for overseeing the Trust’s financial reporting process. 
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial 
Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our 
auditor’s report. 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements – Conclusion on the Trust’s arrangements for 
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources 

Matter on which we are required to report by exception - Trust’s arrangements for 
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources 
Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report to you if, in our opinion we have not been able to 
satisfy ourselves that the Trust has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2020.   

We have nothing to report in respect of the above matter. 

Significant risks 
Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report on how our work addressed the significant risks we 
identified in forming our conclusion on the adequacy of the Trust’s arrangements for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. Significant risks are those risks that in our view had the 
potential to cause us to reach an inappropriate conclusion on the audited body’s arrangements. We did not 
identify any significant risks with respect to value for money for 2018/19.  

Responsibilities of the Accounting Officer 
The Accounting Officer is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness in the use of the Trust’s resources. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the review of the Trust’s arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources 
We are required under paragraph 1 of Schedule 10 of the National Health Service Act 2006 to be satisfied that 
the Trust has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources and to report where we have not been able to satisfy ourselves that it has done so. We are not 
required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the Trust’s arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources are operating effectively. 

We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to the guidance 
on the specified criterion issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General in April 2020, as to whether in all 
significant respects, the Trust had proper arrangements to ensure it took properly informed decisions and 
deployed resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people. The 
Comptroller and Auditor General determined this criterion as that necessary for us to consider under the Code 
of Audit Practice in satisfying ourselves whether the Trust put in place proper arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2020, and to report 
by exception where we are not satisfied. 

We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our risk assessment, we 
undertook such work as we considered necessary to be satisfied that the Trust has put in place proper 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. 

file:///C:/Users/brett.hodges/Desktop/Timestamps/Audit%20cleaned/www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements - Certificate 
We certify that we have completed the audit of the financial statements of Moorfields Eye 
Hospital NHS Foundation Trust in accordance with the requirements of Chapter 5 of Part 2 
of the National Health Service Act 2006 and the Code of Audit Practice. 

Use of our report 
This report is made solely to the Council of Governors of the Trust, as a body, in accordance with Schedule 10 of 
the National Health Service Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Trust’s 
Council of Governors those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other 
purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than 
the Trust and the Trust’s Council of Governors, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions 
we have formed. 

 

Iain Murray 
 

Iain Murray, Key Audit Partner 
for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Local Auditor 
 
London 
25 June 2020 
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Foreword to the accounts
These accounts, for the year ended 31 March 2020, have been prepared by Moorfields Eye
Hospital NHS Foundation Trust in accordance with paragraphs 24 & 25 of Schedule 7 within the
National Health Service Act 2006.

David Probert
Chief Executive
25th June 2020
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Statement of Comprehensive Income Group

2019/20 2018/19

Note £000 £000
Operating income from patient care activities 3 227,732  204,429 
Other operating income 4 25,060  30,872 
Operating expenses 6, 8 (251,908) (227,598)

Operating surplus from continuing operations 884 7,703 

Finance income 11 327  292 
Finance expenses 12 (1,089) (1,176)
PDC dividends payable (872) (552)

Net finance costs (1,634) (1,436)
Other gains 13 30  1,824 
Share of (losses) / profit joint arrangements 19 (75) 455 

(Deficit) / surplus for the year (795) 8,546 

Other comprehensive income

Will not be reclassified to income and expenditure:
Revaluations 17 1,849  658 

May be reclassified to income and expenditure when certain conditions are met:
Foreign exchange gains  recognised directly in OCI 274  242 

Total comprehensive income  for the period 1,328 9,446 

The notes on pages 68 to 108 form part of these accounts.
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Statement of Financial Position Group Trust

31 March
2020

31 March
2019

31 March
2020

31 March
2019

Note £000 £000 £000 £000
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 14 3,602  4,419  3,602  4,419 
Property, plant and equipment 15 90,026  82,702  90,026  82,702 
Investments in associates and joint ventures 19 752  785  -  - 
Investments in subsidiaries 19.1 -  -  2,272  2,230 
Receivables 21 1,784  1,968  1,784  1,968 

Total non-current assets 96,164 89,873 97,684 91,318 
Current assets
Inventories 20 3,298  2,939  3,298  2,939 
Receivables 21 21,387  29,601  21,387  29,601 
Cash and cash equivalents 22 52,444  45,252  52,444  45,252 

Total current assets 77,129 77,792 77,129 77,792 
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 23 (39,001) (35,754) (39,001) (35,754)
Borrowings 25 (1,898) (1,901) (1,898) (1,901)
Provisions 26 (1,859) (85) (1,859) (85)
Other liabilities 24 (3,252) (3,267) (3,252) (3,267)

Total current liabilities (46,010) (41,007) (46,010) (41,007)
Total assets less current liabilities 127,283 126,658 128,803 128,103 
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables 23 (862) (789) (862) (789)
Borrowings 25 (33,731) (35,554) (33,731) (35,554)
Provisions 26 (2,615) (1,744) (2,615) (1,744)

Total non-current liabilities (37,208) (38,088) (37,208) (38,088)
Total assets employed 90,075 88,571 91,595 90,016 

Financed by 
Public dividend capital 27,531  27,355  27,531  27,355 
Revaluation reserve 8,333  6,484  8,333  6,484 
Other reserves 1,178  904  1,178  904 
Income and expenditure reserve 53,033  53,828  54,553  55,273 

Total taxpayers' equity 90,075 88,571 91,595 90,016 

The notes on pages 68 to 108 form part of these accounts.

David Probert
Chief Executive
25th June 2020
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Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 31 March 2020

Group

Public
dividend

capital
Revaluation

reserve
Other

reserves

Income and
expenditure

reserve Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Taxpayers' and others' equity at 1 April 2019 - brought forward 27,355 6,484 904 53,828 88,571 
Deficit for the year -  -  -  (795) (795)
Revaluations -  1,849  -  -  1,849 
Foreign exchange gains recognised directly through OCI -  -  274  -  274 
Public dividend capital received 176  -  -  -  176 

Taxpayers' and others' equity at 31 March 2020 27,531 8,333 1,178 53,033 90,075 

Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 31 March 2019

Group

Public
dividend

capital
Revaluation

reserve
Other

reserves

Income and
expenditure

reserve Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Taxpayers' and others' equity at 1 April 2018 - brought forward 27,190 6,066 662 43,562 77,479 
Impact of implementing IFRS 15 on 1 April 2018 -  -  -  1,480  1,480 
Surplus for the year -  -  -  8,546  8,546 
Revaluations -  658  -  -  658 
Foreign exchange gains recognised directly through OCI -  -  242  -  242 
Public dividend capital received 165  -  -  -  165 
Other reserve movements -  (240) -  240  - 

Taxpayers' and others' equity at 31 March 2019 27,355 6,484 904 53,828 88,571 

Information on reserves

Public dividend capital
Public dividend capital (PDC) is a type of public sector equity finance based on the excess of assets over liabilities at the time of establishment of the
predecessor NHS organisation. Additional PDC may also be issued to trusts by the Department of Health and Social Care. A charge, reflecting the cost of
capital utilised by the trust, is payable to the Department of Health as the public dividend capital dividend.

Revaluation reserve
Increases in asset values arising from revaluations are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, and to the extent that, they reverse
impairments previously recognised in operating expenses, in which case they are recognised in operating income. Subsequent downward movements in
asset valuations are charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that a previous gain was recognised unless the downward movement represents a
clear consumption of economic benefit or a reduction in service potential.

Other reserves
Exchange gains or losses on non-monetary assets and liabilities, including on revaluation, are recognised in other reserve under equity.

Income and expenditure reserve
The balance of this reserve is the accumulated surpluses and deficits of the trust.
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Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 31 March 2020

Trust

Public
dividend

capital
Revaluation

reserve
Other

reserves

Income and
expenditure

reserve Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Taxpayers' and others' equity at 1 April 2019 - brought forward 27,355 6,484 904 55,273 90,016 
Deficit for the year - - - (720) (720)
Revaluations - 1,849 - - 1,849 
Foreign exchange gains recognised directly through OCI - - 274 - 274 
Public dividend capital received 176 - - - 176 

Taxpayers' and others' equity at 31 March 2020 27,531 8,333 1,178 54,553 91,595 

Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 31 March 2019

Trust

Public
dividend

capital
Revaluation

reserve
Other

reserves

Income and
expenditure

reserve Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Taxpayers' and others' equity at 1 April 2018 - brought forward 27,190 6,066 662 45,462 79,379 
Impact of implementing IFRS 15 on 1 April 2018 - - - 1,480 1,480 
Surplus for the year - - - 8,091 8,091 
Revaluations - 658 - - 658 
Foreign exchange gains recognised directly through OCI - - 242 - 242 
Public dividend capital received 165 - - - 165 
Other reserve movements - (240) - 240 - 

Taxpayers' and others' equity at 31 March 2019 27,355 6,484 904 55,273 90,016 

- 

Information on reserves

Public dividend capital
Public dividend capital (PDC) is a type of public sector equity finance based on the excess of assets over liabilities at the time of establishment of the
predecessor NHS organisation. Additional PDC may also be issued to trusts by the Department of Health and Social Care. A charge, reflecting the cost of
capital utilised by the trust, is payable to the Department of Health as the public dividend capital dividend.

Revaluation reserve
Increases in asset values arising from revaluations are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, and to the extent that, they reverse impairments
previously recognised in operating expenses, in which case they are recognised in operating income. Subsequent downward movements in asset valuations
are charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that a previous gain was recognised unless the downward movement represents a clear consumption of
economic benefit or a reduction in service potential.

Other reserves
Exchange gains or losses on non-monetary assets and liabilities, including on revaluation, are recognised in other reserve under equity.

Income and expenditure reserve
The balance of this reserve is the accumulated surpluses and deficits of the trust.
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Statement of Cash Flows Group Trust

2019/20 2018/19 2019/20 2018/19
Note £000 £000 £000 £000

Cash flows from operating activities
Operating surplus 884  7,703  884  7,703 

Non-cash income and expense:
Depreciation and amortisation 6.1 7,055  7,339  7,055  7,339 
Net impairments 7 1,816  2,519  1,816  2,519 
Income recognised in respect of capital donations 4 (48) (209) (48) (209)
Decrease / (increase) in receivables and other assets 8,310  (6,328) 8,310  (6,328)
Increase in inventories (359) (590) (359) (590)
Increase / (decrease) in payables and other liabilities 3,153  (964) 3,153  (964)
Increase in provisions 2,636  427  2,636  427 

Net cash flows from / (used in) operating activities 23,447 9,896 23,447 9,896 
Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received 327  292  327  292 

Purchase of intangible assets (1,453) (1,182) (1,453) (1,182)

Purchase of PPE (11,954) (8,492) (11,954) (8,492)
Sales of PPE and investment property 47  5,274  47  5,274 

Receipt of cash donations to purchase assets 48  209  48  209 
Net cash flows from used in investing activities (12,985) (3,899) (12,985) (3,899)
Cash flows from financing activities
Public dividend capital received 176  165  176  165 
Movement on loans from DHSC (1,823) (1,823) (1,823) (1,823)
Interest on loans (1,084) (1,132) (1,084) (1,132)
PDC dividend paid (784) (595) (784) (595)
Cash flows from used in other financing activities (42) (78) (42) (78)

Net cash flows from used in financing activities (3,557) (3,463) (3,557) (3,463)
Increase in cash and cash equivalents 6,905 2,534 6,905 2,534 
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April - brought forward 45,252 42,491 45,252 42,491 
Unrealised gains  on foreign exchange 287  227  287  227 

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 22.1 52,444 45,252 52,444 45,252 
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Notes to the Accounts

Note 1 Accounting policies and other information

Note 1.1 Basis of preparation

NHS Improvement, in exercising the statutory functions conferred on Monitor, has directed that the financial statements
of the Trust shall meet the accounting requirements of the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting
Manual (GAM), which shall be agreed with HM Treasury. Consequently, the following financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with the GAM 2019/20 issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. The accounting
policies contained in the GAM follow International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful
and appropriate to the NHS, as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory
Board. Where the GAM permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy that is judged to be most
appropriate to the particular circumstances of the Trust for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected.
The particular policies adopted are described below. These have been applied consistently in dealing with items
considered material in relation to the accounts.

Accounting convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of
property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.

Note 1.2 Going concern

These accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis.

After making enquiries, the directors have a reasonable expectation that the NHS foundation trust has adequate
resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, they continue to adopt the
going concern basis in preparing the accounts.

Note 1.3 Interests in other entities

Subsidiary entities are those over which the trust has the power to exercise control or a dominant influence so as to gain
economic or other benefits. The income, expenses, assets, liabilities, equity and reserves of subsidiaries are
consolidated in full into the appropriate financial statement lines. The capital and reserves attributable to minority
interests are included as a separate item in the Statement of Financial Position.

The Trust established MEH Ventures LLP during 2013/14  as a wholly-owned subsidiary. The Trust is able to exert
control over this entity and accordingly the transactions of MEH Ventures LLP have been consolidated into the
Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Foundation Trust accounts. The Trust includes within its financial statements its share of
the assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The exemption to exclude the Trust’s Statement of Comprehensive Income
as allowed by DHSC GAM 2019/20 has been applied by the directors. All notes in the accounts refer to the Group. The
Trust notes are included only where they are deemed to be materially differ.

In 2019/20 the Trust reported a loss of £720k (2018/19 surplus of £8,091k).
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Note 1.4 Revenue from contracts with customers

Where income is derived from contracts with customers, it is accounted for under IFRS 15. The GAM expands the
definition of a contract to include legislation and regulations which enables an entity to receive cash or another financial
asset that is not classified as a tax by the Office of National Statistics (ONS).
Revenue in respect of goods/services provided is recognised when (or as) performance obligations are satisfied by
transferring promised goods/services to the customer and is measured at the amount of the transaction price allocated
to those performance obligations. At the year end, the Trust accrues income relating to performance obligations satisfied
in that year. Where the Trust’s entitlement to consideration for those goods or services is unconditional a contract
receivable will be recognised. Where entitlement to consideration is conditional on a further factor other than the
passage of time, a contract asset will be recognised. Where consideration received or receivable relates to a
performance obligation that is to be satisfied in a future period, the income is deferred and recognised as a contract
liability.

Revenue from NHS contracts
The main source of income for the Trust is contracts with commissioners for health care services. A performance
obligation relating to delivery of a spell of health care is generally satisfied over time as healthcare is received and
consumed simultaneously by the customers as the Trust performs it. The customer in such a contract is the
commissioner, but the customer benefits as services are provided to their patient. Even where a contract could be
broken down into separate performance obligations, healthcare generally aligns with paragraph 22(b) of the Standard
entailing a delivery of a series of goods or services that are substantially the same and have a similar pattern of transfer.
At the year end, the Trust accrues income relating to activity delivered in that year, where a patient care spell is
incomplete. This accrual is disclosed as a contract receivable as entitlement to payment for work completed is usually
only dependent on the passage of time.

 Revenue is recognised to the extent that collection of consideration is probable. Where contract challenges from
commissioners are expected to be upheld, the Trust reflects this in the transaction price and derecognises the relevant
portion of income.

The Trust receives income from commissioners under Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) schemes.
The Trust agrees schemes with its commissioner but they affect how care is provided to patients. That is, the CQUIN
payments are not considered distinct performance obligations in their own right; instead they form part of the transaction
price for performance obligations under the contract.

 As per paragraph 121 of the Standard the Trust does not disclose information regarding performance obligations part of
a contract that has an original expected duration of one year or less.  The GAM does not require the Trust to disclose
information where revenue is recognised in line with the practical expedient offered in paragraph B16 of the Standard
where the right to consideration corresponds directly with value of the performance completed to date.

Revenue from research contractsWhere research contracts fall under IFRS 15, revenue is recognised as and when performance obligations are satisfied.
For some contracts, it is assessed that the revenue project constitutes one performance obligation over the course of
the multi-year contract. In these cases it is assessed that the Trust’s interim performance does not create an asset with
alternative use for the Trust, and the Trust has an enforceable right to payment for the performance completed to date. It
is therefore considered that the performance obligation is satisfied over time, and the Trust recognises revenue each
year over the course of the contract. Where research income does not meet the criteria within IFRS 15, it is treated as
grant
income under IAS 20, and income is recognised in line with expenditure which meets the conditions set out in the grant
documents.

Revenue from Private Patients

The Trust generates income from providing healthcare to private patients. A performance obligation relating to delivery
of a spell of health care is generally satisfied over time as healthcare is received and consumed simultaneously by the
customer as the Trust performs it. The customer in such a contract is the private patient, but the customer benefits as
services are provided to their patient. Even where a contract could be broken down into separate performance
obligations, healthcare generally aligns with paragraph 22(b) of the Standard entailing a delivery of a series of goods or
services that are substantially the same and have a similar pattern of transfer.



Page 70 of 108  

Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Foundation Trust - Financial Statements 2019/20

Provider sustainability fund (PSF) and Financial recovery fund (FRF)

The PSF and FRF enable providers to earn income linked to the achievement of financial controls and performance
targets. Income earned from the funds is accounted for as variable consideration.

Note 1.5 Other forms of income

Grants and donations
Government grants are grants from government bodies other than income from commissioners or trusts for the provision
of services. Where a grant is used to fund revenue expenditure it is taken to the Statement of Comprehensive Income to
match that expenditure. Where the grants is used to fund capital expenditure, it is credited to the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income once conditions attached to the grant have been met. Donations are treated in the same way
as government grants.

Apprenticeship service income

The value of the benefit received when accessing funds from the Government's apprenticeship service is recognised as
income at the point of receipt of the training service. Where these funds are paid directly to an accredited training
provider from the Trust's Digital Apprenticeship Service (DAS) account held by the Department for Education, the
corresponding notional expense is also recognised at the point of recognition for the benefit.

Note 1.6 Expenditure on employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments such as social security costs and the apprenticeship levy are
recognised in the period in which the service is received from employees. The cost of annual leave entitlement earned
but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the extent that
employees are permitted to carry-forward leave into the following period.

Pension costs

NHS Pension Scheme

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Both schemes are
unfunded, defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, general practices and other bodies, allowed under the
direction of Secretary of State for Health and Social Care in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed in a way
that would enable employers to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the
scheme is accounted for as though it is a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the trust is taken as equal to the
employer's pension contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period. The contributions are charged to
operating expenses as and when they become due.

Additional pension liabilities arising from early retirements are not funded by the scheme except where the retirement is
due to ill-health. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to the operating expenses at the time
the trust commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.

Note 1.7 Expenditure on other goods and services

Expenditure on goods and services is recognised when, and to the extent that they have been received, and is
measured at the fair value of those goods and services. Expenditure is recognised in operating expenses except where
it results in the creation of a non-current asset such as property, plant and equipment.
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8 Note 1.8 Property, plant and equipment

Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised where:

• it is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes
• it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the trust
• it is expected to be used for more than one financial year
• the cost of the item can be measured reliably
• the item has cost of at least £5,000, or
• collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have cost of more than £250, where the
assets are functionally interdependent, had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have similar
disposal dates and are under single managerial control.

Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset lives, eg,
plant and equipment, then these components are treated as separate assets and depreciated over their own useful
lives.

Subsequent expenditure
Subsequent expenditure relating to an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an increase in the
carrying amount of the asset when it is probable that additional future economic benefits or service potential deriving
from the cost incurred to replace a component of such item will flow to the enterprise and the cost of the item can be
determined reliably. Where a component of an asset is replaced, the cost of the replacement is capitalised if it meets the
criteria for recognition above. The carrying amount of the part replaced is de-recognised. Other expenditure that does
not generate additional future economic benefits or service potential, such as repairs and maintenance, is charged to
the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period in which it is incurred.

Measurement

Valuation

All property, plant and equipment assets are measured initially at cost, representing the costs directly attributable to
acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management.
Assets are measured subsequently at valuation. Assets which are held for their service potential and are in use (ie
operational assets used to deliver either front line services or back office functions) are measured at their current value
in existing use. Assets that were most recently held for their service potential but are surplus with no plan to bring them
back into use are measured at fair value where there are no restrictions on sale at the reporting date and where they do
not meet the definitions of investment properties or assets held for sale.
Revaluations of property, plant and equipment are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that carrying values are
not materially different from those that would be determined at the end of the reporting period. Current values in existing
use are determined as follows:
   •      Land and non-specialised buildings – market value for existing use
   •      Specialised buildings – depreciated replacement cost on a modern equivalent asset basis.
For specialised assets, current value in existing use is interpreted as the present value of the asset's remaining service
potential, which is assumed to be at least equal to the cost of replacing that service potential. Specialised assets are
therefore valued at their depreciated replacement cost (DRC) on a modern equivalent asset (MEA) basis. An MEA basis
assumes that the asset will be replaced with a modern asset of equivalent capacity and meeting the location
requirements of the services being provided. Assets held at depreciated replacement cost have been valued on an
alternative site basis where this would meet the location requirements.

Properties in the course of construction for service or administration purposes are carried at cost, less any impairment
loss. Cost includes professional fees and, where capitalised in accordance with IAS 23, borrowings costs. Assets are
revalued and depreciation commences when the assets are brought into use.

IT equipment, transport equipment, furniture and fittings, and plant and machinery that are held for operational use are
valued at depreciated historic cost where these assets have short useful lives or low values or both, as this is not
considered to be materially different from current value in existing use.

Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Foundation Trust - Financial Statements 2019/20
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Depreciation
Items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated over their remaining useful lives in a manner consistent with the
consumption of economic or service delivery benefits. Freehold land is considered to have an infinite life and is not
depreciated.

Property, plant and equipment which has been reclassified as ‘held for sale’ cease to be depreciated upon the
reclassification. Assets in the course of construction and residual interests in off-Statement of Financial Position PFI
contract assets are not depreciated until the asset is brought into use or reverts to the trust, respectively.

Revaluation gains and losses
Revaluation gains are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, and to the extent that, they reverse a
revaluation decrease that has previously been recognised in operating expenses, in which case they are recognised in
operating expenditure.

Revaluation losses are charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is an available balance for the asset
concerned, and thereafter are charged to operating expenses.

Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as an
item of ‘other comprehensive income’.

Impairments

In accordance with the GAM, impairments that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefits or of service
potential in the asset are charged to operating expenses. A compensating transfer is made from the revaluation reserve
to the income and expenditure reserve of an amount equal to the lower of (i) the impairment charged to operating
expenses; and (ii) the balance in the revaluation reserve attributable to that asset before the impairment.

An impairment that arises from a clear consumption of economic benefit or of service potential is reversed when, and to
the extent that, the circumstances that gave rise to the loss is reversed. Reversals are recognised in operating
expenditure to the extent that the asset is restored to the carrying amount it would have had if the impairment had never
been recognised. Any remaining reversal is recognised in the revaluation reserve. Where, at the time of the original
impairment, a transfer was made from the revaluation reserve to the income and expenditure reserve, an amount is
transferred back to the revaluation reserve when the impairment reversal is recognised.
Other impairments are treated as revaluation losses. Reversals of ‘other impairments’ are treated as revaluation gains.

De-recognition
Assets intended for disposal are reclassified as ‘held for sale’ once all of the following criteria are met. The sale must be
highly probable and the asset available for immediate sale in its present condition.
Following reclassification, the assets are measured at the lower of their existing carrying amount and their ‘fair value
less costs to sell’.  Depreciation ceases to be charged. Assets are de-recognised when all material sale contract
conditions have been met.

Property, plant and equipment which is to be scrapped or demolished does not qualify for recognition as ‘held for sale’
and instead is retained as an operational asset and the asset’s useful life is adjusted. The asset is de-recognised when
scrapping or demolition occurs.

Donated and grant funded assets

Donated and grant funded property, plant and equipment assets are capitalised at their fair value on receipt. The
donation/grant is credited to income at the same time, unless the donor has imposed a condition that the future
economic benefits embodied in the grant are to be consumed in a manner specified by the donor, in which case, the
donation/grant is deferred within liabilities and is carried forward to future financial years to the extent that the condition
has not yet been met.

The donated and grant funded assets are subsequently accounted for in the same manner as other items of property,
plant and equipment.
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Useful lives of property, plant and equipment 
Useful lives reflect the total life of an asset and not the remaining life of an asset. The range of useful lives are shown in
the table below:

Min life Max life
Years Years

Land -  - 
Buildings, excluding dwellings 5  77 
Plant & machinery 3  25 
Transport equipment 7  7 
Information technology 4  11 
Furniture & fittings 5  10 

Finance-leased assets (including land) are depreciated over the shorter of the useful life or the lease term, unless the
trust expects to acquire the asset at the end of the lease term in which case the assets are depreciated in the same
manner as owned assets above.

9 Note 1.9 Intangible assets

Recognition
Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance which are capable of being sold separately from
the rest of the trust’s business or which arise from contractual or other legal rights. They are recognised only where it is
probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the trust and where the cost of the
asset can be measured reliably.

Internally generated intangible assets
Internally generated goodwill, brands, mastheads, publishing titles, customer lists and similar items are not capitalised
as intangible assets.
Expenditure on research is not capitalised. Expenditure on development is capitalised where it meets the requirements
set out in IAS 38.
Software

Software which is integral to the operation of hardware, eg an operating system, is capitalised as part of the relevant
item of property, plant and equipment.

Software which is not integral to the operation of hardware, eg application software, is capitalised as an intangible asset.

Measurement

Intangible assets are recognised initially at cost, comprising all directly attributable costs needed to create, produce and
prepare the asset to the point that it is capable of operating in the manner intended by management.
Subsequently intangible assets are measured at current value in existing use. Where no active market exists, intangible
assets are valued at the lower of depreciated replacement cost and the value in use where the asset is income
generating. Revaluations gains and losses and impairments are treated in the same manner as for property, plant and
equipment. An intangible asset which is surplus with no plan to bring it back into use is valued at fair value where there
are no restrictions on sale at the reporting date and where they do not meet the definitions of investment properties or
assets held for sale.

Intangible assets held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell.
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Amortisation
Intangible assets are amortised over their expected useful lives in a manner consistent with the consumption of
economic or service delivery benefits.

Useful lives of intangible assets
Useful lives reflect the total life of an asset and not the remaining life of an asset.  The range of useful lives are shown in
the table below:

Min life Max life
Years Years

Information technology 5  8 
Websites 5  8 
Software licences 5  8 
Licences & trademarks 5  8 
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# Note 1.10 Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories is measured using the
weighted average cost method within the pharmacy department, and the First In, First Out (FIFO) method for all other
balances. Work-in-progress comprises goods in intermediate stages of production. Where inventory is found to be
obsolete or expired, the carrying value of that inventory is immediately recognised as an expense.

# Note 1.11 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24
hours. Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.

In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on
demand and that form an integral part of the Trust’s cash management. Cash, bank and overdraft balances are recorded
at current values.

# Note 1.12 Financial assets and financial liabilities

Recognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities arise where the Trust is party to the contractual provisions of a financial
instrument, and as a result has a legal right to receive or a legal obligation to pay cash or another financial instrument.
The GAM expands the definition of a contract to include legislation and regulations which give rise to arrangements that
in all other respects would be a financial instrument and do not give rise to transactions classified as a tax by ONS.

This includes the purchase or sale of non-financial items (such as goods or services), which are entered into in
accordance with the Trust’s normal purchase, sale or usage requirements and are recognised when, and to the extent
which, performance occurs, ie, when receipt or delivery of the goods or services is made.

Classification and measurement

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value plus or minus directly attributable transaction
costs except where the asset or liability is not measured at fair value through income and expenditure. Fair value is taken
as the transaction price, or otherwise determined by reference to quoted market prices or valuation techniques.

Financial assets or financial liabilities in respect of assets acquired or disposed of through finance leases are recognised
and measured in accordance with the accounting policy for leases described below.

Financial assets are classified as subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Financial liabilities classified as subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Financial assets and financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial assets and financial liabilities at amortised cost are those held with the objective of collecting contractual cash
flows and where cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest. This includes cash equivalents, contract and
other receivables, trade and other payables, rights and obligations under lease arrangements and loans receivable and
payable.

After initial recognition, these financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method less any impairment (for financial assets). The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability to the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset or to the amortised cost of a financial liability.

Interest revenue or expense is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a
financial asset or amortised cost of a financial liability and recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and a
financing income or expense.  In the case of loans held from the Department of Health and Social Care, the effective
interest rate is the nominal rate of interest charged on the loan.
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Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income

A financial asset is measured at fair value through other comprehensive income where business model objectives are
met by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets and where the cash flows are solely payments
of principal and interest. Movements in the fair value of financial assets in this category are recognised as gains or losses
in other comprehensive income except for impairment losses. On derecognition, cumulative gains and losses previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified from equity to income and expenditure, except where the
Trust elected to measure an equity instrument in this category on initial recognition.

Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through income and expenditure
Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss are those that are not otherwise measured at amortised
cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income. This category also includes financial assets and liabilities
acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term (held for trading) and derivatives. Derivatives which are
embedded in other contracts, but which are separable from the host contract are measured within this category.
Movements in the fair value of financial assets and liabilities in this category are recognised as gains or losses in the
Statement of Comprehensive income.

Impairment of financial assets

For all financial assets measured at amortised cost including lease receivables, contract receivables and contract assets
or assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, the Trust recognises an allowance for expected
credit losses in accordance with IFRS 9.

The Trust adopts the simplified approach to impairment for contract and other receivables, contract assets and lease
receivables, measuring expected losses as at an amount equal to lifetime expected losses. For other financial assets, the
loss allowance is initially measured at an amount equal to 12-month expected credit losses (stage 1) and subsequently at
an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk assessed for the financial asset significantly increases
(stage 2).

For financial assets that have become credit impaired since initial recognition (stage 3), expected credit losses at the
reporting date are measured as the difference between the asset’s gross carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.

Expected losses are charged to operating expenditure within the Statement of Comprehensive Income and reduce the
net carrying value of the financial asset in the Statement of Financial Position.

Derecognition
Financial assets are de-recognised when the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired or the
Trust has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires.
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# Note 1.13 Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the
lessee. The trust as at 31 March 2020 did not have any finance leases. All other leases are classified as operating
leases.

The trust as a lessee
Finance leases
Where substantially all risks and rewards of ownership of a leased asset are borne by the trust, the asset is recorded as
property, plant and equipment and a corresponding liability is recorded. The value at which both are recognised is the
lower of the fair value of the asset or the present value of the minimum lease payments, discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. The implicit interest rate is that which produces a constant periodic rate of interest on the
outstanding liability.

The asset and liability are recognised at the commencement of the lease. Thereafter the asset is accounted for an item
of property plant and equipment.

The annual rental charge is split between the repayment of the liability and a finance cost so as to achieve a constant
rate of finance over the life of the lease. The annual finance cost is charged to finance costs in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income.

Operating leases
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives
are recognised initially in other liabilities on the statement of financial position and subsequently as a reduction of
rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in
which they are incurred.

Leases of land and buildings

Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land component is separated from the building component and the
classification for each is assessed separately.

The trust as a lessor

Finance leases
Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as receivables at the amount of the Trust's net
investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods to reflect a constant periodic rate of
return on the trust's net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

Operating leases

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

# Note 1.14 Provisions
The Trust recognises a provision where it has a present legal or constructive obligation of uncertain timing or amount;
for which it is probable that there will be a future outflow of cash or other resources; and a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount. The amount recognised in the Statement of Financial Position is the best estimate of the resources
required to settle the obligation. Where the effect of the time value of money is significant, the estimated risk-adjusted
cash flows are discounted using HM Treasury's discount rates effective for 31 March 2020:

Nominal rate
Short-term Up to 5 years 0.51%
Medium-term After 5 years up to 10 years 0.55%
Long-term Exceeding 10 years 1.99%

HM Treasury provides discount rates for general provisions on a nominal rate basis. Expected future cash flows are
therefore adjusted for the impact of inflation before discounting using nominal rates. The following inflation rates are set
by HM Treasury, effective 31 March 2020:

Inflation rate
Year 1 1.90%
Year 2 2.00%
Into perpetuity 2.00%
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Early retirement provisions and injury benefit provisions both use the HM Treasury's pension discount rate of minus 0.5%
in real terms.

Clinical negligence costs

NHS Resolution operates a risk pooling scheme under which the trust pays an annual contribution to NHS Resolution,
which, in return, settles all clinical negligence claims. Although NHS Resolution is administratively responsible for all
clinical negligence cases, the legal liability remains with the Trust. The total value of clinical negligence provisions carried
by NHS Resolution on behalf of the trust is disclosed at note 26.2 but is not recognised in the Trust’s accounts.

Non-clinical risk pooling
The trust participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk pooling
schemes under which the trust pays an annual contribution to NHS Resolution and in return receives assistance with the
costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any excesses payable in respect of particular claims
are charged to operating expenses when the liability arises.

# Note 1.15 Contingencies
Contingent assets (that is, assets arising from past events whose existence will only be confirmed by one or more future
events not wholly within the entity’s control) are not recognised as assets, but would be disclosed as a note to the
accounts where an inflow of economic benefits is probable.
Contingent liabilities are not recognised, but would be disclosed as a note to the accounts, unless the probability of a
transfer of economic benefits is remote.

Contingent liabilities are defined as:

• possible obligations arising from past events whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence of one or more
uncertain future events not wholly within the entity’s control; or

• present obligations arising from past events but for which it is not probable that a transfer of economic benefits will arise
or for which the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

The trust has no such assets or liabilities as at 31 March 2020 or for reported prior years.

# Note 1.16 Public dividend capital
Public dividend capital (PDC) is a type of public sector equity finance based on the excess of assets over liabilities at the
time of establishment of the predecessor NHS organisation. HM Treasury has determined that PDC is not a financial
instrument within the meaning of IAS 32.

The Secretary of State can issue new PDC to, and require repayments of PDC from, the trust. PDC is recorded at the
value received.

A charge, reflecting the cost of capital utilised by the trust, is payable as public dividend capital dividend. The charge is
calculated at the rate set by HM Treasury (currently 3.5%) on the average relevant net assets of the trust during the
financial year. Relevant net assets are calculated as the value of all assets less the value of all liabilities, except for
(i) donated and grant funded assets,
(ii) average daily cash balances held with the Government Banking Services (GBS) and National Loans Fund (NLF)
deposits, excluding cash balances held in GBS accounts that relate to a short-term working capital facility, and
(iii) any PDC dividend balance receivable or payable.

In accordance with the requirements laid down by the Department of Health and Social Care (as the issuer of PDC), the
dividend for the year is calculated on the actual average relevant net assets as set out in the “pre-audit” version of the
annual accounts. The dividend calculated is not revised should any adjustment to net assets occur as a result the audit of
the annual accounts.

# Note 1.17 Value added tax

Most of the activities of the trust are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax on
purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the
capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are
stated net of VAT.
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# Note 1.18 Foreign exchange
The functional and presentational currency of the trust is sterling with the exception of operations in the United Arab
Emirates (Dubai and Abu Dhabi). The functional currency operations in Dubai and Abu Dhabi is United Arab Emirates
dirhams and the presentational currently is Sterling.

A transaction which is denominated in a foreign currency is translated into the functional currency at the spot exchange
rate on the date of the transaction.

Where the trust has assets or liabilities denominated in a foreign currency at the Statement of Financial Position date:

• monetary items are translated at the spot exchange rate on 31 March
• non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at historical cost are translated using the spot exchange rate at the date
of the transaction and
• non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at fair value are translated using the spot exchange rate at the date the
fair value was determined.

Exchange gains or losses on monetary items (arising on settlement of the transaction or on re-translation at the
Statement of Financial Position date) are recognised in income or expense in the period in which they arise.

Exchange gains or losses on non-monetary assets and liabilities are recognised in the same manner as other gains and
losses on these items.

# Note 1.19 Third party assets

Assets belonging to third parties in which the Trust has no beneficial interest (such as money held on behalf of patients)
are not recognised in the accounts. However, they are disclosed in a separate note to the accounts in accordance with
the requirements of HM Treasury’s FReM.

# Note 1.20 Losses and special payments
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health
service or passed legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to
special control procedures compared with the generality of payments. They are divided into different categories, which
govern the way that individual cases are handled. Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional
headings in expenditure on an accruals basis.

The losses and special payments note is compiled directly from the losses and compensations register which reports on
an accrual basis with the exception of provisions for future losses.

1
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# Note 1.21 Early adoption of standards, amendments and interpretations
No new accounting standards or revisions to existing standards have been early adopted in 2019/20.

# Note 1.22 Standards, amendments and interpretations in issue but not yet effective or adopted

IFRS 16 Leases
IFRS 16 Leases will replace IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease and other
interpretations and is applicable in the public sector for periods beginning 1 April 2021.  The standard provides a single
accounting model for lessees, recognising a right of use asset and obligation in the statement of financial position for
most leases: some leases are exempt through application of practical expedients explained below. For those recognised
in the statement of financial position the standard also requires the remeasurement of lease liabilities in specific
circumstances after the commencement of the lease term. For lessors, the distinction between operating and finance
leases will remain and the accounting will be largely unchanged.

IFRS 16 changes the definition of a lease compared to IAS 17 and IFRIC 4. The trust will apply this definition to new
leases only and will grandfather its assessments made under the old standards of whether existing contracts contain a
lease.

On transition to IFRS 16 on 1 April 2021, the trust will apply the standard retrospectively with the cumulative effect of
initially applying the standard recognised in the income and expenditure reserve at that date. For existing operating
leases with a remaining lease term of more than 12 months and an underlying asset value of at least £5,000, a lease
liability will be recognised equal to the value of remaining lease payments discounted on transition at the trust’s
incremental borrowing rate. The trust's incremental borrowing rate will be defined by HM Treasury. Currently this rate is
1.27% but this may change between now and adoption of the standard. The related right of use asset will be measured
equal to the lease liability adjusted for any prepaid or accrued lease payments. For existing peppercorn leases not
classified as finance leases, a right of use asset will be measured at current value in existing use or fair value. The
difference between the asset value and the calculated lease liability will be recognised in the income and expenditure
reserve on transition. No adjustments will be made on 1 April 2021 for existing finance leases.
For leases commencing in 2021/22, the trust will not recognise a right of use asset or lease liability for short term leases
(less than or equal to 12 months) or for leases of low value assets (less than £5,000).  Right of use assets will be
subsequently measured on a basis consistent with owned assets and depreciated over the length of the lease term.

 HM Treasury revised the implementation date for IFRS 16 in the UK public sector to 1 April 2021 on 19 March 2020.
Due to the need to reassess lease calculations, together with uncertainty on expected leasing activity in from April 2021
and beyond, a quantification of the expected impact of applying the standard in 2021/22 is currently impracticable.
However, the trust does expect this standard to have a material impact on non-current assets, liabilities and
depreciation.

Other standards, amendments and interpretations

Standards issued or amended but not yet adopted:
IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts Not EU-endorsed. Applies to first time adopters of IFRS after 1 January 2016.
Therefore not applicable to DHSC group bodies.

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023, but not
yet adopted by the FReM: early adoption is not therefore permitted.

# Note 1.23 Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
The following are the judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below) that management has made in the
process of applying the trust accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in
the financial statements:

Consolidation of charitable funds

The trust has assessed its relationship to the charitable fund and determined that it is not a subsidiary.  This is because
the trust has no power to govern the financial and operating policies of the charitable fund so as to obtain the benefits
from its activities for itself, its patients or its staff.

Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Foundation Trust - Financial Statements 2019/20
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# Note 1.24 Sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are assumptions about the future and other major sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant
risk of resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year:

Provisions
Provisions have been made for legal and constructive obligations of uncertain timing or amount as at the reporting date.
These are based on estimates using relevant and reliable information as is available at the time the financial statements
are prepared. These provisions are estimates of the actual costs of future cash flows and are dependent on future
events. Any difference between expectations and the actual future liability will be accounted for in the period when such
determination is made. Amounts of provisions are detailed in note 26 to the accounts.

Valuation of Land and Buildings
In line with this policy specialised assets are valued using the Modern Equivalent Asset (MEA) approach. Both physical
and functional obsolescence is applied to buildings, to reflect their actual characteristics and value. Gerald Eve provided
the trust with a valuation of land and building assets (estimated fair value and remaining useful life). The valuation,
based on estimates provided by a suitably qualified professional in accordance with HM Treasury Guidance, leads to
revaluation adjustments as described in note 17 to the accounts. Future revaluations of property may result in further
changes to the carrying values of non-current assets.

Impairment of Receivables
The trust reviews all receivables and impairs at rates determined by the age and recoverability of the
debt as per IFRS 9. Amounts impaired are disclosed in note 21.1 to the accounts.
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Note 2 Operating Segments

The trust reports results by two segments - NHS and Commercial.
Group

NHS (1) Commercial (2) Total
2019/20 £000 £000 £000
Income by segment
Income from activities 196,878 30,854 227,732
Other operating income 24,950 110 25,060

221,828 30,964 252,792

Operating and other expenditure (225,269) (26,502) (251,771)
Impairment of non-current assets (1,816) -  (1,816)
(Deficit)/Surplus for the year (5,257) 4,462 (795)

NHS Commercial Total
2018/19 £000 £000 £000
Income by segment
Income from activities 175,805 28,624 204,429
Other operating income 30,872 - 30,872

206,677 28,624 235,301

Operating and other expenditure (199,644) (24,593) (224,237)
Impairment of non-current assets (2,519) -  (2,519)
Surplus for the year 4,514 4,031 8,545 

(1) NHS Income includes PSF and FRF funding of £2.0m in 2019/20 and £8.0m in 2018/19.

(2) Commercial includes results for Moorfields Private and Moorfields UAE.
Moorfields UAE includes the impact of foreign exchange fluctuations in its overall results, arising from the conversion of
transactions in its functional currency (United Arab Emirates dirhams) to sterling.  The net assets of Moorfields UAE are
restated on a monthly basis for exchange rate fluctuations, with movements expressed as unrealised gains or losses in
other reserve. Moorfields UAE includes the operations of Moorfields Dubai and the share of surplus/deficit of Moorfields
Eye Centre Abu Dhabi.
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3 Note 3 Operating income from patient care activities
All income from patient care activities relates to contract income recognised in line with accounting policy 1.4

3 Note 3.1 Income from patient care activities (by nature) 2019/20 2018/19
£000 £000

Elective income 38,733  39,312 
Non elective income 5,231  5,627 
First outpatient income 21,110  22,528 
Follow up outpatient income 46,480  43,346 
A & E income 14,943  11,295 
High cost drugs income from commissioners (excluding pass-through costs) 38,575  35,531 
Other NHS clinical income 16,658  7,317 
Community services income from CCGs and NHS England 195  286 
Private patient income 30,854  28,597 
Agenda for Change pay award central funding* - 1,176 
Additional pension contribution central funding** 4,685  -
Other clinical income*** 10,268  9,414 

Total income from activities 227,732 204,429 

*Additional costs of the Agenda for Change pay reform in 2018/19 received central funding. From 2019/20 this funding
is incorporated into tariff for individual services.

**The employer contribution rate for NHS pensions increased from 14.3% to 20.6% (excluding administration charge)
from 1 April 2019. For 2019/20, NHS providers continued to pay over contributions at the former rate with the additional
amount being paid over by NHS England on providers' behalf. The full cost and related funding have been recognised in
these accounts.

*** Includes additional income for the impact of COVID-19 of £1,507k from NHS England.

3 Note 3.2 Income from patient care activities (by source)
2019/20 2018/19

Income from patient care activities received from: £000 £000
NHS England* 27,779  19,465 
Clinical commissioning groups 158,985  145,683 
Department of Health and Social Care 8  1,176 
Other NHS providers 9,534  9,312 
Non-NHS: private patients 30,854  28,597 
Non-NHS: overseas patients (chargeable to patient) 145  196 
Non NHS: other 427  - 

Total income from activities 227,732 204,429 

* Includes additional income for the impact of COVID-19 of £1,507k in 2019/20.



Page 84 of 108  

Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Foundation Trust - Financial Statements 2019/20

Note 3.3 Overseas visitors (relating to patients charged directly by the provider)
2019/20 2018/19

£000 £000
Income recognised this year 145  196 
Cash payments received in-year 129  121 
Amounts added to provision for impairment of receivables 23  67 
Amounts written off in-year -  176 

Note 4 Other operating income 2019/20
Contract

income
Non-contract

income Total
£000 £000 £000

Research and development 6,959  7,031  13,990 
Education and training 4,347  -  4,347 
Provider sustainability fund (PSF) 658  -  658 
Financial recovery fund (FRF) 1,430  -  1,430 
Receipt of capital grants and donations -  48  48 
Rental revenue from operating leases -  420  420 
Other income 4,167  -  4,167 

Total other operating income 17,561 7,499 25,060 

2018/19

Contract
income

Non-contract
income Total

£000 £000 £000
Research and development 2,090  8,671  10,761 
Education and training 4,345  -  4,345 
Provider sustainability fund (PSF) 8,000  -  8,000 
Receipt of capital grants and donations -  209  209 
Rental revenue from operating leases -  658  658 
Other income 6,900  -  6,900 

Total other operating income 21,334 9,538 30,872 
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Note 5.1 Additional information on contract revenue (IFRS 15) recognised in the period
2019/20 2018/19

£000 £000
Revenue recognised in the reporting period that was included in within contract
liabilities at the previous period end 3,267  361 

Note 5.2 Transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations

Revenue from existing contracts allocated to remaining performance obligations is
expected to be recognised:

31 March
2020

31 March
2019

£000 £000
within one year -  294 
after one year, not later than five years -  - 
after five years -  - 

Total revenue allocated to remaining performance obligations - 294 

The trust has exercised the practical expedients permitted by IFRS 15 paragraph 121 in preparing this disclosure.
Revenue from (i) contracts with an expected duration of one year or less and (ii) contracts where the trust recognises
revenue directly corresponding to work done to date is not disclosed.

Note 5.3 Income from activities arising from commissioner requested services

Under the terms of its provider licence, the trust is required to analyse the level of income from activities that has arisen
from commissioner requested and non-commissioner requested services. Commissioner requested services are defined
in the provider licence and are services that commissioners believe would need to be protected in the event of provider
failure. This information is provided in the table below:

2019/20 2018/19
£000 £000

Income from services designated as commissioner requested services 196,878  175,805 
Income from services not designated as commissioner requested services 55,914  59,496 

Total 252,792 235,301 
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Note 6.1 Operating expenses
2019/20 2018/19

£000 £000
Purchase of healthcare from NHS and DHSC bodies 2,652  2,992 
Staff and executive directors costs 127,577  118,076 
Remuneration of non-executive directors 151  144 
Supplies and services - clinical (excluding drugs costs) 20,770  20,200 
Supplies and services - general 10,618  9,761 
Drug costs (drugs inventory consumed and purchase of non-inventory drugs) 36,126  32,127 
Consultancy costs 3,852  4,056 
Establishment 6,183  2,227 
Premises 5,861  7,039 
Transport (including patient travel) 2,844  2,950 
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 5,927  5,956 
Amortisation on intangible assets 1,128  1,382 
Net impairments 1,816  2,519 
Movement in credit loss allowance: contract receivables / contract assets 2,509  1,550 
Change in provisions discount rate 33  - 
Audit fees payable to the external auditor:
audit services- statutory audit 85  97 
other auditor remuneration (external auditor only) 8  25 

Internal audit costs 114  133 
Clinical negligence 289  264 
Legal fees 1,617  272 
Insurance 457  470 
Research and development 13,231  9,254 
Education and training 2,086  1,564 
Rentals under operating leases 5,137  5,004 
Redundancy 40  - 
Other 797  (464)

Total 251,908 227,598 
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Note 6.2 Other auditor remuneration
2019/20 2018/19

£000 £000
Other auditor remuneration paid to the external auditor:
Assurance services relating to the Quality Accounts 8  25 

Total 8 25 

Note 6.3 Limitation on auditor's liability

The limitation on auditor's liability for external audit work is £140k (2018/19: £0k).

Note 7 Impairment of assets
2019/20 2018/19

£000 £000
Net impairments charged to operating (deficit) / surplus resulting from:
Abandonment of assets in course of construction* 1,145  - 
Changes in market price** 671  2,519 

Total net impairments charged to operating (decifit ) / surplus 1,816 2,519 
Impairments charged to the revaluation reserve -  - 

Total net impairments 1,816 2,519 

* The Trust has ceased the continuation of development for its Electronic Medical Records upgrade resulting in an
impairment of £1.145m
** The impairment recognised above in relation to changes in market price arose as a result of the revaluation exercise
undertaken in the year, as described in note 17.



Page 88 of 108  

Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Foundation Trust - Financial Statements 2019/20

Note 8 Employee benefits
2019/20 2018/19

Total Total
£000 £000

Salaries and wages 93,601  88,001 
Social security costs 9,785  9,151 
Apprenticeship levy 437  376 
Employer's contributions to NHS pensions 15,407  9,999 
Pension cost - other 8  6 
Termination benefits 46  - 
Temporary staff (including agency) 16,631  18,184 

Total staff costs 135,915 125,717 
Of which
Costs capitalised as part of assets 302 128 

Note 8.1 Retirements due to ill-health

During 2019/20 there were no early retirements from the trust agreed on the grounds of ill-health (1 in the year ended 31
March 2019).  The estimated additional pension liabilities of these ill-health retirements is 0k (£6k in 2018/19).

These estimated costs are calculated on an average basis and will be borne by the NHS Pension Scheme.
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Note 9 Pension costs

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes.  Details of the benefits
payable and rules of the Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.  Both
are unfunded defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the
direction of the Secretary of State in England and Wales. They are not designed to be run in a way that would enable
NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, each scheme is accounted
for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS body of participating in each scheme is taken as equal
to the contributions payable to that scheme for the accounting period.

In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those that
would be determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period between
formal valuations shall be four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. An outline of these follows:

a) Accounting valuation
A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government Actuary’s
Department) as at the end of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting
period in conjunction with updated membership and financial data for the current reporting period, and is accepted as
providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March
2020, is based on valuation data as at 31 March 2019, updated to 31 March 2020 with summary global member and
accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM
interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used.

The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the scheme actuary, which forms part
of the annual NHS Pension Scheme Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are
published annually. Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office.

b) Full actuarial (funding) valuation

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the schemes (taking
into account recent demographic experience), and to recommend contribution rates payable by employees and
employers.

The latest actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed as at 31 March 2016. The results
of this valuation set the employer contribution rate payable from April 2019 at 20.6%, and the Scheme Regulations were
amended accordingly.

The 2016 funding valuation was also expected to test the cost of the Scheme relative to the employer cost cap set
following the 2012 valuation. Following a judgment from the Court of Appeal in December 2018 Government announced
a pause to that part of the valuation process pending conclusion of the continuing legal process.

NEST Pension Scheme

Where staff are not eligible for, or choose to opt out of, the NHS Pensions Scheme, they are entitled to join the National
Employment Savings Trust (NEST) scheme. NEST is a government-backed, defined contribution pension scheme set up
to make sure that every employer can easily access a workplace pension scheme.  The employer's contribution rate in
2019/20 was 3% (2018/19: 2%).
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# Note 10 Operating leases

# Note 10.1 Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Foundation Trust as a lessor
This note discloses income generated in operating lease agreements where Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS
Foundation Trust is the lessor.

The trust receives income from rental of building space to external parties.  Nile Street was sold in 2018/19 and
therefore no income from this rental was due in 2019/20.

2019/20 2018/19
£000 £000

Operating lease revenue
Minimum lease receipts 420  658 

Total 420 658 

31 March
2020

31 March
2019

£000 £000
Future minimum lease receipts due:
- not later than one year; 420  450 
- later than one year and not later than five years; 1,262  1,349 
- later than five years. 420  450 

Total 2,102 2,249 

# Note 10.2 Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Foundation Trust as a lessee
This note discloses costs and commitments incurred in operating lease arrangements where Moorfields Eye
Hospital NHS Foundation Trust is the lessee.

At the date the Statement of Financial Position has been presented, the Trust had costs and outstanding
commitments for future minimum lease payments for buildings under non-cancellable operating leases, which fall
due as follows:

2019/20 2018/19
£000 £000

Operating lease expense
Minimum lease payments 5,137  5,004 

Total 5,137 5,004 

31 March
2020

31 March
2019

£000 £000
Future minimum lease payments due:
- not later than one year; 4,538  4,909 
- later than one year and not later than five years; 16,474  15,011 
- later than five years. 7,293  5,090 

Total 28,305 25,010 
Future minimum sublease payments to be received -  - 
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Note 11 Finance income
Finance income represents interest received on assets and investments in the period.

2019/20 2018/19
£000 £000

Interest on bank accounts 327  292 
Total finance income 327 292 

Note 12.1 Finance expenditure
Finance expenditure represents interest and other charges involved in the borrowing of money or asset financing.

2019/20 2018/19
£000 £000

Interest expense:
Loans from the Department of Health and Social Care 1,081  1,131 

Total interest expense 1,081 1,131 
Unwinding of discount on provisions 8  -
Other finance costs -  45 

Total finance costs 1,089 1,176 

Note 12.2 The late payment of commercial debts (interest) Act 1998 / Public Contract Regulations 2015 
2019/20 2018/19

£000 £000
Total liability accruing in year under this legislation as a result of late payments -  - 
Amounts included within interest payable arising from claims made under this
legislation -  - 
Compensation paid to cover debt recovery costs under this legislation -  - 

Note 13 Other gains
2019/20 2018/19

£000 £000
Gains on disposal of assets 30  1,824 

Total gains on disposal of assets 30 1,824 
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Note 14.1 Intangible assets - 2019/20

Software
licences

Internally
generated

information
technology Websites

Intangible
assets under
construction Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Valuation / gross cost at 1 April 2019 - brought forward 6,143 4,976 - 1,186 12,305 
Additions 1,218  -  66  169  1,453 
Impairments -  -  -  (1,145) (1,145)
Retranslation loss on foreign operations (4) -  -  -  (4)

Valuation / gross cost at 31 March 2020 7,357 4,976 66 210 12,609 

Amortisation at 1 April 2019 - brought forward 2,910 4,976 - - 7,886 
Provided during the year 1,119  -  9  -  1,128 
Retranslation loss on foreign operations (7) -  -  -  (7)

Amortisation at 31 March 2020 4,022 4,976 9 - 9,007 

Net book value at 31 March 2020 3,335 - 57 210 3,602 
Net book value at 1 April 2019 3,233 - - 1,186 4,419 

Note 14.2 Intangible assets - 2018/19

Software
licences

Internally
generated

information
technology Websites

Intangible
assets under
construction Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Valuation / gross cost at 1 April 2018 - as previously stated 5,946 4,976 - 1,196 12,118 
Additions 1,130  -  -  53  1,182 
Reclassifications 63  -  -  (63) - 
Retranslation gains on foreign operations 37  -  -  -  37 
Disposals / derecognition (1,032) -  -  -  (1,032)

Valuation / gross cost at 31 March 2019 6,143 4,976 - 1,186 12,305 

Amortisation at 1 April 2018 - as previously stated 3,005 4,495 - - 7,500 
Provided during the year 901  481  -  -  1,382 
Retranslation gains on foreign operations 36  -  -  -  36 
Disposals / derecognition (1,032) -  -  -  (1,032)

Amortisation at 31 March 2019 2,910 4,976 - - 7,886 

Net book value at 31 March 2019 3,233 - - 1,186 4,419 
Net book value at 1 April 2018 2,940 481 - 1,196 4,618 
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Note 15.1 Property, plant and equipment - 2019/20

Land

Buildings
excluding
dwellings

Assets under
construction

Plant &
machinery

Transport
equipment

Information
technology

Furniture &
fittings Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Valuation/gross cost at 1 April 2019 - brought forward 23,665 46,831 1,197 34,272 5 11,661 1,990 119,621 
Additions -  3,066  4,390  3,444  -  1,166  39  12,105 
Impairments (671) -  -  -  -  -  -  (671)
Revaluations (1,706) 1,206  -  -  -  -  -  (500)
Reclassifications -  375  (375) -  -  -  -  - 
Retranslation gains on foreign operations -  61  -  115  -  5  2  183 
Disposals / derecognition -  -  -  (1,969) -  -  (4) (1,973)

Valuation/gross cost at 31 March 2020 21,288 51,539 5,212 35,862 5 12,832 2,027 128,765 

Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2019 - brought
forward - 2,396 - 23,595 5 9,369 1,554 36,919 
Provided during the year -  2,570  -  2,386  -  840  131  5,927 
Revaluations -  (2,349) -  -  -  -  -  (2,349)
Retranslation gains on foreign operations -  43  -  134  -  9  11  197 
Disposals / derecognition -  -  -  (1,952) -  -  (3) (1,955)

Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2020 - 2,660 - 24,163 5 10,218 1,693 38,739 

Net book value at 31 March 2020 21,288 48,879 5,212 11,699 - 2,613 334 90,026 
Net book value at 1 April 2019 23,665 44,435 1,197 10,677 - 2,291 436 82,702 

As at 31 March 2020 £5,213k of assets under contruction relate to Project Oriel. Oriel is a partnership between Moorfields Eye Hospital, UCL and Moorfields Eye Charity,
working to relocate all services at Moorfields Eye Hospital on City Road and the UCL Institute of Ophthalmology on Bath Street, to a new, integrated facility at our preferred
site at St Pancras Hospital.  Capitalised costs to date represent Moorfields share of design costs for this new facility

Note 15.2 Property, plant and equipment - 2018/19

Land

Buildings
excluding
dwellings

Assets under
construction

Plant &
machinery

Transport
equipment

Information
technology

Furniture &
fittings Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Valuation / gross cost at 1 April 2018 - as previously
stated 23,665 46,595 375 31,490 5 12,225 2,008 116,362 
Additions -  4,843  823  3,058  -  1,152  82  9,958 
Impairments -  (2,519) -  -  -  -  -  (2,519)
Revaluations -  (1,643) -  -  -  -  -  (1,643)
Retranslation gains / (losses) on foreign operations -  (161) -  379  -  8  15  241 
Disposals / derecognition -  (284) -  (655) -  (1,725) (115) (2,778)

Valuation/gross cost at 31 March 2019 23,665 46,831 1,197 34,272 5 11,661 1,990 119,621 

Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2018 - as
previously stated - 2,286 - 21,673 5 10,303 1,507 35,774 
Provided during the year -  2,662  -  2,365  -  784  146  5,956 
Revaluations -  (2,301) -  -  -  -  -  (2,301)
Retranslation gains  on foreign operations -  33  -  167  -  7  14  221 
Disposals / derecognition -  (284) -  (610) -  (1,725) (113) (2,731)

Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2019 - 2,396 - 23,595 5 9,369 1,554 36,919 

Net book value at 31 March 2019 23,665 44,435 1,197 10,677 - 2,291 436 82,702 
Net book value at 1 April 2018 23,665 44,308 375 9,817 - 1,922 501 80,588 
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Note 15.3 Property, plant and equipment financing - 2019/20

Land

Buildings
excluding
dwellings

Assets under
construction

Plant &
machinery

Information
technology

Furniture &
fittings Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Net book value at 31 March 2020
Owned - purchased 21,288  38,900  5,212  10,382  2,584  325  78,691 
Owned - donated -  9,979  -  1,317  29  10  11,335 

NBV total at 31 March 2020 21,288 48,879 5,212 11,699 2,613 335 90,026 

Note 15.4 Property, plant and equipment financing - 2018/19

Land

Buildings
excluding
dwellings

Assets under
construction

Plant &
machinery

Information
technology

Furniture &
fittings Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Net book value at 31 March 2019
Owned - purchased 23,665  35,266  1,197  9,180  2,251  423  71,982 
Owned - donated -  9,169  -  1,497  41  13  10,719 

NBV total at 31 March 2019 23,665 44,435 1,197 10,677 2,291 436 82,702 
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Note 16 Donations of property, plant and equipment
During the year £48k was donated by the Moorfields Eye Charity to fund a 3D Video Streaming and Processing
System.

Note 17 Revaluations of property, plant and equipment

Valuations were carried out on properties at 162 City Road, the Richard Desmond Children's Eye Centre, Cayton
Street, Northwick Park and Kemp House in 2019/20.  The valuation was carried out by Gerald Eve, an external firm of
chartered surveyors, with the basis of valuation being Modern Equivalent Asset.

The valuation exercise was carried in March 2020 with a valuation date of 31 March 2020. In applying the Royal
Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RCIS) Valuation Global Standards 2020 ('Red Book'), the valuer has declared a
'material valuation uncertainty' in the valuation report. This is on the basis of uncertainties in markets caused by COVID-
19. The values in the report have been used to inform the measurement of property assets at valuation in these
financial statements. With the valuer having declared this material valuation uncertainly, the valuer has continued to
exercise professional judgement in providing the valuation and this remains the best information available to the trust.
The valuation included downwards (impairments), and upwards (gains) valuation movements. Land was impared by
£2,377k and buildings revalued up by £3,555k. Impairments are taken to the revaluation reserve to the extent that
there is a revaluation surplus for that land or property. Any impairments over and above the revaluation surplus are
charged to operating expenses. Revaluation gains are taken to the revaluation reserve.

Note 18.1 Investment Property

2019/20 2018/19
£000 £000

Carrying value at 1 April - brought forward - 3,403 
Disposals -  (3,403)

Carrying value at 31 March - - 

Note 18.2 Investment property income and expenses 
2019/20 2018/19

£000 £000
Direct operating expense arising from investment property which generated rental
income in the period -  (62)

Total investment property expenses - (62)
Investment property income -  182 

Note 19 Investments in associates and joint ventures Group
2019/20 2018/19

£000 £000
Carrying value at 1 April - brought forward 785 303 
Share of (loss) / profit (75) 455 
Other equity movements 42  27 

Carrying value at 31 March 752 785 

MEH Ventures LLP, Trust's wholly owned subsidiary, incorporated in the UK holds a 49% stake in a joint venture -
Moorfields Eye Centre Abu Dhabi, incorporated in UAE. The investment has been valued on an equity basis in
accordance with the accounting policies for investments in joint ventures and associates.

Note 19.1 Investments in Subsidiaries
Trust

2019/20 2018/19
£000 £000

Carrying value at 1 April - brought forward 2,230 2,203 
Other equity movements 42  27 

Carrying value at 31 March 2,272 2,230 

MEH Ventures LLP, Trust's wholly owned subsidiary, incorporated in the UK holds a 49% stake in a joint venture -
Moorfields Eye Centre Abu Dhabi, incorporated in UAE. The investment has been valued on an equity basis in
accordance with the accounting policies for investments in joint ventures and associates.
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Note 20 Inventories
31 March

2020
31 March

2019
£000 £000

Drugs 1,624  1,184 
Consumables 1,045  1,190 
Energy 11  10 
Other 617  555 

Total inventories 3,298 2,939 
of which:
Held at fair value less costs to sell -  - 

Inventories recognised in expenses for the year were £45,837k (2018/19: £49,286k).  Write-down of inventories
recognised as expenses for the year were £0k (2018/19: £0k).

Note 21 Receivables
31 March

2020
31 March

2019
£000 £000

Current
Contract receivables 23,265  28,342 
Allowance for impaired contract receivables / assets (5,280) (3,290)
Prepayments (non-PFI) 2,760  3,509 
PDC dividend receivable 41  130 
VAT receivable 415  667 
Other receivables 186  243 

Total current receivables 21,387 29,601 

Non-current
Prepayments (non-PFI) 1,195  1,968 
Other receivables 589  - 

Total non-current receivables 1,784 1,968 

Of which receivable from NHS and DHSC group bodies: 
Current 14,603  21,011 
Non-current 589  - 
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# Note 21.1 Allowances for credit losses
2019/20 2018/19

Contract
receivables

and contract
assets

All other
receivables

Contract
receivables

and contract
assets

All other
receivables

£000 £000 £000 £000
Allowances as at 1 April - brought forward 3,290 - - 3,498 
Impact of implementing IFRS 9 (and IFRS 15) on 1
April 2018 3,345  (3,498)
New allowances arising 2,509  -  1,550  - 
Utilisation of allowances (write offs) (519) -  (1,605) - 

Allowances as at 31 Mar 2020 5,280 - 3,290 - 

Allowances for credit losses have been calculated against each class of receivable using specific knowledge, age of
receivable and past experience.

# Note 21.2 Exposure to credit risk

As majority of the trust's income comes from legally binding contracts with other government departments and NHS
bodies, the trust is not exposed to major concentrations of credit risk.
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# Note 22.1 Cash and cash equivalents movements

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank, in hand and cash equivalents. Cash equivalents are readily
convertible investments of known value which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.

2019/20 2018/19
£000 £000

At 1 April 45,252 42,491 
Net change in year 7,191  2,761 

At 31 March 52,444 45,252 
Broken down into:
Cash at commercial banks and in hand 2,183  2,363 
Cash with the Government Banking Service 50,260  42,889 

Total cash and cash equivalents as in SoFP 52,444 45,252 
Total cash and cash equivalents as in SoCF 52,444 45,252 

# Note 22.2 Third party assets held by the trust

Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Foundation Trust held cash and cash equivalents on behalf of other parties as detailed
below

31 March
2020

31 March
2019

£000 £000
Bank balances 41  41 

Total third party assets 41 41 
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Note 23.1 Trade and other payables
31 March

2020
31 March

2019
£000 £000

Current
Trade payables 11,320  10,854 
Capital payables 4,051  3,900 
Accruals 16,959  15,407 
Receipts in advance and payments on account 13  - 
Social security costs 1,393  1,292 
Other taxes payable 1,179  1,144 
Other payables 4,086  3,157 

Total current trade and other payables 39,001 35,754 

Non-current
Other payables 862  789 

Total non-current trade and other payables 862 789 

Of which payables from NHS and DHSC group bodies: 
Current 4,697  6,606 

Note 23.2 Early retirements in NHS payables above
The payables note above includes amounts in relation to early retirements as set out below:

31 March
2020

31 March
2020

31 March
2019

31 March
2019

£000 Number £000 Number
- to buy out the liability for early retirements over 5
years -  - 

- -

- number of cases involved -  -  - - 
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Note 24 Other liabilities
31 March

2020
31 March

2019
£000 £000

Current
Deferred income: contract liabilities 3,252  3,267 

Total other current liabilities 3,252 3,267 

Note 25.1 Borrowings
31 March

2020
31 March

2019
£000 £000

Current
Loans from DHSC 1,898  1,901 

Total current borrowings 1,898 1,901 

Non-current
Loans from DHSC 33,731  35,554 

Total non-current borrowings 33,731 35,554 

The trust has two loans from the Independent Trust Financing Facility:
▪ £20.5 million drawn down in 2014/15 payable over 25 years at a fixed interest rate of 2.99% per annum.
Outstanding capital at 31 March 2020 was £16.1 million.
▪ £25.0 million drawn down in 2014/15 payable over 25 years at a fixed interest rate of 2.88% per annum.
Outstanding capital at 31 March 2020 was £19.5 million.
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Note 25.2 Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities - 2019/20

Loans
from

DHSC
£000

Carrying value at 1 April 2019 37,455 
Cash movements:

Financing cash flows - payments and receipts of principal (1,823)
Financing cash flows - payments of interest (1,084)

Non-cash movements:
Application of effective interest rate 1,081 

Carrying value at 31 March 2020 35,629 

Note 25.3 Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities - 2018/19

Loans
from

DHSC
£000

Carrying value at 1 April 2018 39,200 
Cash movements:

Financing cash flows - payments and receipts of principal (1,823)
Financing cash flows - payments of interest (1,132)

Non-cash movements:
Impact of implementing IFRS 9 on 1 April 2018 78 
Application of effective interest rate 1,131 

Carrying value at 31 March 2019 37,455 
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# Note 26.1 Provisions for liabilities and charges analysis 

Pensions:
early

departure
costs Legal claims Redundancy Other Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

At 1 April 2019 290 - - 1,540 1,830 
Change in the discount rate 33  - - -  33 
Arising during the year -  1,161 132 1,634  2,927 
Utilised during the year (26) -  -  -  (26)
Reversed unused - - - (298) (298)
Unwinding of discount 8  - - -  8 

At 31 March 2020 305 1,161 132 2,876 4,474 
Expected timing of cash flows:
- not later than one year; 32  1,161  132  534  1,859 
- later than one year and not later than five years; 128  -  -  1,753  1,881 
- later than five years. 145  -  -  589  734 
Total 305 1,161 132 2,876 4,474 

Staff pensions are calculated using a formula supplied by the NHS Pensions Agency. These pensions are the costs of early
retirement of staff resulting from reorganisation.

Legal claims relate to an action against the trust which is not covered by the NHS Litigation Authority.  IAS 37 allows for the non-
disclosure of further information which may prejudice the outcome of litigation.

Redundancy claims relate to staff that are at risk on the redeployment register.

Other provisions includes sums held in respect of additional charges arising from Clinicians pension tax scheme , dilapidations
associated with leases and other contractual challenges.  No further information has been disclosed as IAS 37 allows the
withholding of information which may seriously prejudice the trust.

# Note 26.2 Clinical negligence liabilities

At 31 March 2020, £3,123k was included in provisions of NHS Resolution in respect of clinical negligence liabilities of Moorfields
Eye Hospital NHS Foundation Trust (31 March 2019: £1,014k).

These provisions are reflected only in the accounts of the NHS Resolution, and are not a part of the trust's accounts.

# Note 27 Contractual capital commitments

31 March
2020

31 March
2019

£000 £000
Property, plant and equipment* 9,220  275 
Intangible assets 221  2,943 

Total 9,441 3,218 

* within this amount £8,408k relates to Project Oriel commitments.
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Note 28 Financial instruments

Note 28.1 Financial risk management

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments Disclosures, requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the
period in creating or changing the risks an entity faces in undertaking its activities.

Because of the continuing service-provider relationship that the foundation trust has with clinical commissioning groups,
and the way those bodies are financed, the foundation trust is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by other
business entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be
typical of the listed companies to which IFRS 7 mainly applies.

The foundation trust has power to borrow in accordance with its provider licence issued by the independent regulator for
foundation trusts. Financial assets and liabilities generated by day-to-day operational activities are not held to change the
risks facing the foundation trust in undertaking its activities.

Liquidity risk

A large proportion of the foundation trust's net operating costs are incurred under annual service agreements with clinical
commissioning Groups, which are financed from resources voted annually by Parliament.  Capital expenditure has been
financed from internal funds and donations. The trust has substantial cash balances and is not currently exposed to any
liquidity risk associated with inability to pay creditors.

Currency risk and interest rate risk

The foundation trust has a branch in the United Arab Emirates (Dubai and Abu Dhabi), with transactions conducted in
United Arab Emirates dirhams. The branch accounts are consolidated into the overall trust accounts, converted using
spot and average exchange rates as appropriate, with exchange gains or losses reported in other equity reserve.  Due to
the size of the operation, and the fact that the majority of cost and income are denoted in local currency, the trust has
limited exposure to currency exchange fluctuations.

The trust is not exposed to changes in interest rates as all borrowings have been taken out at fixed rates for a fixed
period from Independent Trust Financing Facility.

Credit risk

As majority of the trust's income comes from legally binding contracts with other government departments and NHS
bodies, the trust is not exposed to major concentrations of credit risk.
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Note 28.2 Carrying values of financial assets

Carrying values of financial assets as at 31 March 2020

Held at
amortised

cost

Held at
fair value

through I&E

Held at
fair value

through OCI
Total

book value
£000 £000 £000 £000

Trade and other receivables excluding non financial assets 18,171  -  -  18,171 
Other investments / financial assets 752  -  -  752 
Cash and cash equivalents 52,444  -  -  52,444 

Total at 31 March 2020 71,367 - - 71,367 

Carrying values of financial assets as at 31 March 2019

Held at
amortised

cost

Held at
fair value

through I&E

Held at
fair value

through OCI
Total

book value
£000 £000 £000 £000

Trade and other receivables excluding non financial assets 25,295  -  -  25,295 
Other investments / financial assets 785  -  -  785 
Cash and cash equivalents 45,252  -  -  45,252 

Total at 31 March 2019 71,333 - - 71,333 

Note 28.3 Carrying values of financial liabilities

Carrying values of financial liabilities as at 31 March 2020

Held at
amortised

cost

Held at
fair value

through I&E
Total

book value
£000 £000 £000

Loans from the Department of Health and Social Care 35,629  -  35,629 
Trade and other payables excluding non financial liabilities  37,277  -  37,277 
Provisions under contract 305  -  305 

Total at 31 March 2020 73,211 - 73,211 

Carrying values of financial liabilities as at 31 March 2019

Held at
amortised

cost

Held at
fair value

through I&E
Total

book value
£000 £000 £000

Loans from the Department of Health and Social Care 37,455  -  37,455 
Trade and other payables excluding non financial liabilities  32,620  -  32,620 
Provisions under contract 290  -  290 

Total at 31 March 2019 70,365 - 70,365 
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# Note 28.4 Maturity of financial liabilities
31 March

2020
31 March

2019
£000 £000

In one year or less 39,206  34,546 
In more than one year but not more than two years 1,855  1,926 
In more than two years but not more than five years 5,566  5,779 
In more than five years 26,583  28,114 

Total 73,211 70,365 

# Note 28.5 Fair values of financial assets and liabilities

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities does not differ from carrying amount.
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Note 29 Losses and special payments
2019/20 2018/19

Total
number of

cases
Total value

of cases

Total
number of

cases
Total value

of cases
Number £000 Number £000

Losses
Cash losses 2  4  16  16 
Fruitless payments 173  140  118  459 
Bad debts and claims abandoned 3,138  515  142  1,148 

Total losses 3,313 659 276 1,623 

The trust had no special payments in either year.
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# Note 30 Related parties
Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Foundation Trust is a public benefit corporation established under the Health and Social Care
(Community Health and Standards) Act 2003.

During the year none of the board members or members of the key management staff, or parties related to them, has
undertaken any material transactions with Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Foundation Trust other than their employment
remuneration where applicable.

Certain clinical staff are employed by the trust and also engage in work for Moorfields Private, a commercial division of
Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Foundation Trust.  These engagements are undertaken on an arms-length basis separately
from their direct employment with the trust.

The Department of Health an Social Care is regarded as controlling party.  During the year Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS
Foundation Trust has had a significant number of material transactions with the Department, and with other entities for
which the Department is regarded as the parent company.

Related party transactions were made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in an arm's length transaction.

The trust has also had a significant number of transactions with University College London, the Friends of Moorfields and
the Moorfields Eye Charity.

The trust had revenue  transactions of £2,230k with University College London (UCL) and expenditure transactions of
£6,379k during 2019/20. Amounts receivable from UCL as 31st March 2020 were £1,051k and amounts payable to UCL
were £571k.

Friends of Moorfields directly paid £286k (2018/19: £160k) to Moorfields Eye Hospital in income/donations.
Income/donations for the year from Moorfields Eye Charity was £458k (2018/19: £540k).

The table on the next page shows other significant related parties (individually > 1% of revenue), their relationship to the
trust and the nature of the transactions entered into.
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# Note 30 Related parties (continued)

Name of related party Nature of relationship to the trust
NHS England Central funding for a variety of purposes
NHS Croydon CCG Patients of NHS body treated by the trust
NHS Ealing CCG Patients of NHS body treated by the trust
Department of Health and Social Care Research & development and Afc pay award funding

Bedford Hospital NHS Trust Patients of NHS body treated by the trust (Income) / Costs
of operating satellite site at NHS body (Expenditure)

NHS Harrow CCG Patients of NHS body treated by the trust
NHS City and Hackney CCG Patients of NHS body treated by the trust
NHS Wandsworth CCG Patients of NHS body treated by the trust
NHS Islington CCG Patients of NHS body treated by the trust
NHS Newham CCG Patients of NHS body treated by the trust
NHS Barnet CCG Patients of NHS body treated by the trust
NHS Redbridge CCG Patients of NHS body treated by the trust
NHS Tower Hamlets CCG Patients of NHS body treated by the trust
NHS East and North Hertfordshire CCG Patients of NHS body treated by the trust
NHS Herts Valleys CCG Patients of NHS body treated by the trust
NHS Haringey CCG Patients of NHS body treated by the trust
NHS Merton CCG Patients of NHS body treated by the trust
NHS Enfield CCG Patients of NHS body treated by the trust
NHS Brent CCG Patients of NHS body treated by the trust

Health Education England Education, training and personal development of NHS staff

NHS Waltham Forest CCG Patients of NHS body treated by the trust
NHS Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley CCG Patients of NHS body treated by the trust
NHS Camden CCG Patients of NHS body treated by the trust
NHS Barking and Dagenham CCG Patients of NHS body treated by the trust

# NHS Havering CCG Patients of NHS body treated by the trust
NHS Lambeth CCG Patients of NHS body treated by the trust
NHS Bromley CCG Patients of NHS body treated by the trust
NHS Greenwich CCG Patients of NHS body treated by the trust
NHS Hounslow CCG Patients of NHS body treated by the trust

# NHS Pension Scheme Employer pension contributions
HM Revenue & Customs Employer NI contributions & Apprenticeship levy

Croydon Health Services NHS Trust Costs of operating satellite site at NHS body (Expenditure)

# Note 31 Events after the reporting date

There were no evens that occurred between the end of the reporting period and the date that the financial
statements were authorised for issue.

#
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